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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 17-A, AS AMENDED
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141
OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES
1. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017
2. Commission ID No. CS200930354

3. BIR Tax ID No. 287-191-423-000

4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter: DoubleDragon Properties Corp.
5. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation / organization: Philippines
6. Industry Classification Code:

(SEC Use Only)

7. Address of issuer's principal office and Postal Code: DD Meridian Park Bay Area
corner Macapagal Avenue and EDSA Extension Boulevard Brgy 76 Zone 10 San Rafael
Pasay City 1302
8. Issuer's telephone number, including area code: (632) 856-7111
9. Former name, former address & former fiscal year if changed since last report Former
Address: 5th Floor People's Hotel Fuentes and Delgado Sts., Iloilo City 5000
10.Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the
RSA
Number of shares of common stock
Title of each Class
outstanding and amount of debt outstanding
Common Shares P0.10 par value
2,229,730,000
Preferred Shares P100 par value

100,000,000

11. Are any or all of the securities listed on a Stock Exchange?
Yes [x] No [ ]
If yes, state the name of such Stock Exchange and the classes of securities listed:
Philippine Stock Exchange, 2,229,730,000 P0.10 par value Common Shares;
100,000,000 P100.00 par value Preferred Shares
12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:
(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule
17 thereunder or Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and
Sections 26 and 141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the
preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period the registrant was
required to file such reports)
Yes [ x ] No [ ]
(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days.
Yes [ x ] No [ ]
13. Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates: P22,677,283,537 as of
December 31, 2017.
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PART I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Business
DoubleDragon Properties Corp. is an emerging real estate company in the Philippines,
principally engaged in the ownership and operation of a portfolio of leasable
properties through its four principal business segments: retail leasing, office leasing,
hospitality and industrial leasing, with the aim of becoming one of the leading
property players in the Philippines with the highest percentage of recurring revenue.
The Company’s two principal shareholders are Injap Investments Inc., controlled by
the Sia family, and Honeystar Holdings Corp. controlled by the Tan and Ang families,
who also controls Jollibee Foods Corporation (“JFC”), the largest fast food company
in the Philippines.
As of December 31, 2017, through its subsidiary, CityMall Commercial Centers Inc.
(“CMCCI”), the Company owns and operates 25 CityMalls, with a total leasable area
of 147,805.97 sq. m., primarily located in the provincial areas of the Philippines. The
Company also has 20 CityMalls under construction, with an additional land bank for
18 CityMalls. CMCCI is 66% owned by the Company and 34% owned by SM
Investments Corp. (“SMIC”), the holding company for one of the largest
conglomerates in the Philippines.
The Company’s office leasing segment primarily consists of two key projects under
development, DD Meridian Park and Jollibee Tower. DD Meridian Park, a 4.8
hectare projected located in the Manila Bay area of Pasay City, and which is 70%owned by the Company, is expected to consist of 280,000 sq. m. of leasable space.
The space will primarily be used for BPO, outsourcing and support service offices,
and corporate offices and is to be constructed in four phases, with the first phase
expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2018, and the second phase expected
to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2018. Jollibee Tower is a Grade A 41-storey
commercial and office tower with 47,909 sq. m. of leasable space and is situated in
the heart of the Ortigas central business district in Metro Manila. The project, which
is expected to be completed in 2018, is a joint venture between the Company and JFC,
who will serve as the building’s anchor tenant.
The Company’s hospitality segment is operated through its subsidiary, Hotel of Asia,
Inc. (“HOA”), which is 70%-owned by the Company. The hospitality operations are
comprised of 866 operating hotel rooms, including the Company’s own hotel brand,
“Hotel 101”, which currently has one operating hotel in the Bay Area near the Mall of
Asia. CSI Hotels, Inc., a 50%-owned subsidiary of HOA, is the Philippines’ master
franchisee of the “Jinjiang Inn” brand, with two hotels in operation in Ortigas and
Makati, Metro Manila primarily targeted at Chinese tourists. Hotel 101 Management
Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of HOA, operates Injap Tower, a 21-storey
condotel located in Iloilo City. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had one hotel
under construction, and five more hotels in the planning and development stage. The
Company recently announced the entry by HOA into a joint venture for the
development of Hotel101 Resort-Boracay in Megaworld’s Boracay Newcoast estate.
See “Future Hotel Developments”. The Company aims to have 5,000 rooms under
1

management by 2020. The Company also intends to subfranchise its “Jinjiang Inn”
brand in the future.
The Company’s latest venture into the growing industrial leasing segment is through
its wholly owned subsidiary, CentralHub Industrial Centers Inc. (“CHICI”). The
Company, through CHICI, recently acquired a 6.2 hectare parcel of land in Luisita
Industrial Park, Tarlac and a 3.9 hectare parcel of land in Iloilo for industrial leasing,
and the Company intends to acquire an additional six sites strategically located across
Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao. See “Industrial Leasing”. The industrial centers will
contain standardized, multi-use, and industrial quality warehouses suited for
commissaries, cold storage and logistics centers to be leased to locators operating
nationwide.
For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017, the Company had total
revenues of ₱1,928.9 million, ₱3,711.7 million and ₱6,611.9 million (U.S.$132.4
million), respectively. The Company also had net income of ₱622.8 million, ₱1,470.3
million and ₱2,530.8 million (U.S.$50.7 million), respectively, over the same periods.
The Company’s recurring revenue, comprised of its rental income and income from
hotel operations, was 6.0%, 9.4% and 19.8% of its total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively.
HISTORY
The Company, formerly named Injap Land Corporation, was incorporated and
registered with the SEC on December 9, 2009, and began commercial operations in
November 2010 with the primary purpose of engaging in real estate development and
real estate related ventures. The Company was originally a wholly owned subsidiary
of Injap Investments Inc., the holding company of the Sia family. On June 29, 2012,
the Company became a 50-50 joint venture between Injap Investments and Honeystar
Holdings Corporation (“Honeystar”) when Honeystar, headed by Tony Tan Caktiong,
Founder and Chairman of JFC, invested in the Company. The Company eventually
changed its corporate name to DoubleDragon Properties Corp. on July 30, 2012.
The Company, prior to the entry of Honeystar, was originally the Sia family’s initial
foray into real estate development. The Company’s first venture, People’s
Condominium project, was the first condominium project in Iloilo City. People’s
Condominium was completed in November 2011 and was fully sold within a few
months from commencing pre-selling activities. Other projects developed by the
Company in Iloilo City include Injap Tower, a 21-storey commercial and condotel
tower, The Uptown Place, a five-storey premium commercial and residential
condominium, as well as horizontal developments FirstHomes and HappyHomes,
both located in Mandurriao – Iloilo.
It was after the entry of Honeystar and the renaming of the Company into
DoubleDragon Properties Corp. that the Company’s Chairman and Co-Chairman,
Edgar “Injap” Sia II and Tony Tan Caktiong, both born in the year of the dragon,
established a clear vision for the Company’s future. They identified a unique
opportunity to capitalize on the modernization of retail in the provinces by building a
chain of community malls to become the venue for this transition. The Company
targeted second- and third-tier provincial cities for the rollout of their CityMall
branded concept. CMCCI was incorporated on December 27, 2013 to serve as the
2

vehicle for this rollout. Seeing the potential of the CityMall concept, SMIC, one of the
largest conglomerates in the Philippines with a portfolio of leading retail stores, took
a 34% stake in CMCCI in 2014.
To further diversify and attain the goal of operating mostly recurring revenue
properties, the Company began to develop commercial office projects in Metro
Manila through its flagship commercial office project, DD Meridian Park. The
Company’s further entry into the office space segment occurred in August 2015 when
it entered into joint venture with JFC to build a 41-storey commercial and office
tower in the Ortigas central business district that will serve as the corporate center for
JFC, one of the country’s leading fast food companies.
The Company’s shares debuted on the Philippine Stock Exchange’s (“PSE”) Small,
Medium, and Emerging Board (“SME Board”) on April 7, 2014 under the stock
symbol “DD” through an initial public offering of 26% of its outstanding common
shares. On July 6, 2015, the Company’s shares transferred from the SME Board to the
PSE Main Board. On November 30, 2015, the Company’s shares were included in the
Morgan Stanley Capital International Small Cap Philippine Index. On March 14, 2016
the Company was included in the property sector index of the PSE. On April 14,
2016, the Company issued ₱10,000,000,000 worth of Preferred Shares, which were
subsequently listed in the PSE Main Board on July 26, 2016. On September 12, 2016,
the Company was included as one of five listed companies in the PSEi reserve list.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s market capitalization was ₱88.5 billion.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
The Company’s corporate structure is presented in the diagram below:

SUBSIDIARIES
The following table presents certain information regarding the Company’s
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017.

Subsidiary

DoubleDragon Sales Corp.
DoubleDragon Property
Management Corp.
Iloilo-Guimaras Ferry Terminal
Corp.
CentralHub Industrial Centers
Inc.
DD Meridian Park Development
Corp.
DD HappyHomes Residential
Centers Inc.
Hotel of Asia, Inc. (HOA)
CityMall Commercial Centers
Inc. (CMCC)
Piccadilly Circus Landing, Inc.

Country of
incorporation

Philippines
Philippines

Company’s
Company’s
Share in Net
Ownership
Income/(Loss)
Total Assets
Interest
for the year
(₱ in millions, except percentages)

1,763.3
354.8

100%

2.8
(7.2)

100%
Philippines

44.2

0.7
100%

Philippines

184.4

(0.8)
100%

Philippines

19,490.9

Philippines

595.8

Philippines
Philippines

1,948.6
25,768.7

1,987.8
70%

Philippines

459.0

85.6
70%
70%
66%
50%

(62.4)
456.0
(31.4)
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The following is a brief description of each of the Company’s nine Subsidiaries:
1. DoubleDragon Sales Corp. (“DDSC”), incorporated on November 12, 2012,
is engaged in the business of selling or marketing real estate products,
including, but not limited to land, buildings, condominium units, townhouses,
apartments, house and lot packages and all other forms of real estate products.
2. DoubleDragon Property Management Corp. (“DDPMC”), incorporated on
January 17, 2012, is engaged in the business of maintaining, preserving,
preparing and cleaning buildings, condominiums, townhouses, hotels,
amusement or recreational places or counters, office premises, factories,
shops, equipments and facilities, as well as to render janitorial services,
window cleaning, to undertake additional carpentry works, plumbing,
electrical, painting, landscaping, gardening, ground maintenance services of
any and all kinds of buildings.
3. CityMall Commercial Centers Inc. (“CMCC”), incorporated on December
27, 2013, is engaged in the business of commercial shopping centers or malls.
4. Piccadilly Circus Landing Inc. (“PCLI”) was incorporated on October 10,
2012. Its primary purpose is to engage, operate, hold or manage real estate
business.
5. DD HappyHomes Residential Centers Inc. (“DDHH”) was incorporated on
September 15, 2011. Its primary purpose is to engage, operate, hold or manage
real estate business.
6. DD Meridian Park Development Corp. (“DDMPDC”) was incorporated on
October 27, 2014. Its primary purpose is to engage in the business of real
estate development including but not limited to residential and commercial
subdivisions, buildings, and condominium projects in accordance with
Republic Act No. 4726 (otherwise known as The Condominium Act) as
amended.
7. Hotel of Asia, Inc. (“HOA”) was incorporated on June 8, 2011. Its primary
purpose is to engage in and carry on the business of operating hotel/s and
resort/s and to operate and maintain any and all services and facilities incident
thereto.
8. Iloilo-Guimaras Ferry Terminal Corp. (“IGFTC”) was incorporated on
June 10, 2016. Its primary purpose is to finance, design, construct, develop,
operate and maintain the Iloilo-City Guimaras Ferry Terminal and its
surrounding areas within the Parola Port.
9. CentralHub Industrial Centers, Inc. (“CHICI”) was incorporated on
August 31, 2017. Its primary purpose is to engage in and carry on a business
of receiving, accepting, unloading, storing and/or deposit of goods, chattels,
fungibles, parcels, boxes, documents, mail, products, money, vehicles,
animals, articles, cargoes, and effects of all kinds and provide facilities,
5

amenities, conveniences, features, services and/or accommodations in relation
and necessary to said business.
The following table presents the primary business activities the Company and the
Company’s Subsidiaries are engaged in:
Industrial leasing
Hospitality business
Retail Leasing
Office Leasing
Real Estate Residential
Others

CHICI
HOA
CMCCI, PCLI
DDMPDC
DD, DDHH
DDSC, IGFTC

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
Fast growing real estate property group transitioning to a business that will be
supported by a diversified recurring income platform from four property pillars
across retail, office, hospitality and industrial segments
The Company is predominantly a developer and owner of a portfolio of investment
properties with a total leasable area of 191,106.5 sq. m. as of December 31, 2017. The
Company continues to ramp up its pace of growth and widen its presence and deepen
penetration across the Philippines, with plans to increase its portfolio’s leasable area
to 1.2 million sq. m., spanning across the retail, office, hospitality and industrial
segments by 2020. The Company is moving towards a business model which is
expected to derive a significant majority of its revenues from recurring income
streams. For the year ended December 31, 2017, 19.8% of its total revenue was
contributed by the retail and hospitality business segments.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company has 25 operational CityMalls with a total
leasable area of approximately 147,805.97 sq. m. and an occupancy of 94.3%.
Another 20 CityMalls are currently under construction, and the Company has
additional land bank for 18 new CityMalls. The Company intends to establish a
nationwide presence of 100 CityMalls with a total leasable area of 700,000 sq. m. by
2020. All CityMall sites are in prime locations within the natural daily movement of
the general population that the Company serves. CityMall sites are secured in areas
located along main roads to increase visibility and maximize exposure and
accessibility to its target market.
The Company believes that there remains significant organic growth within its
CityMalls business model. Same-store sales growth for FoodWorld which is
comprised of brands owned by Jollibee Foods Corp. in the first five operational
CityMalls which were completed in 2015 was approximately 12.3% from the year
ended December 31, 2016 to the year ended December 31, 2017, underpinned by
positive market reversions and fixed annual escalation ranging from 5% to 10%.
Moreover, there is potential for further upside with the transition to a turnover rent
structure from the base rent structure, as its business scales up and its tenants’ retail
sales continue to increase.

6

DD Meridian Park is being developed as an office-led mixed-use development with
leasable area of 280,000 sq. m. DoubleDragon Plaza, which comprises phase 1 of the
DD Meridian Park project, opened in December 2017. DoubleDragon Center East and
DoubleDragon Center West, which comprise phase 2 of the DD Meridian Park
project, are 23.3% complete as of December 31, 2017. Further, as of December 31,
2017, towers one, two, three and four of DoubleDragon Plaza are 83.0%, 100.0%,
100.0% and 100.0% pre-committed, while the retail area of DoubleDragon Plaza is
61.7% pre-committed. Complementing DD Meridian Park is Jollibee Tower, a
premium-grade office building which will be the future headquarters of JFC. As of
December 31, 2017, the building is 14.2% completed and 60.0% pre-committed.
Construction is estimated to be completed within the fourth quarter of 2018.
Through the Company’s three-star hotel chains – Hotel 101 and Jinjiang Inn – under
the Company’s Subsidiary, HOA, the Company expects to benefit from the strong
growth of the Philippine economy and the expected healthy tourism sector
performance. CSI Hotels, Inc., a 50% subsidiary of HOA, is the exclusive master
franchisee of the Chinese hotel chain Jinjiang Inn in the country – awarded the Best
Local Hotel Brand in 2016 / 2017 by City Traveler. With Jinjiang Inn’s strong
mainland China customer base and familiarity with the brand, the Company believes
that it is well positioned to benefit from the growing inbound Chinese tourists which
is expected to increase to 1 million in 2017 according to Savills. According to the
Department of Tourism, there were 675,700 arrivals from China in 2016, making
China the third largest source of foreign tourists in the Philippines.
All of the hotels under both brands are strategically located in areas which are in close
proximity to one or all of the following: business hubs, shopping malls, and dining
options. As of December 31, 2017, Hotel 101 Manila, Jinjiang Inn Ortigas and
Jinjiang Inn Makati have 518, 95, and 59 rooms, respectively, with a target to grow
the hotel portfolio to 5,000 rooms with a leasable area of 100,000 sq. m. by 2020,
offering investors the opportunity to gain exposure to one of the largest potential
portfolios of hospitality assets in the Philippines by room count.
In addition, the Company formed its wholly owned subsidiary CentralHub Industrial
Centers Inc. (“CHICI”) as its industrial leasing arm. The Company envisions CHICI
to be a branded modern institutional quality logistics facility suited for commissaries,
cold storage and logistic centers. The Company has secured a 6.2 hectare site in
Tarlac and a 3.9 hectare lot in Iloilo, as part of its plan to build eight industrial centers
by 2020 (two in North Luzon, two in South Luzon, two in Visayas and two in
Mindanao), adding 100,000 sq. m. to its leasing portfolio.
Finally, the Company believes that its recurring income stream is underpinned by a
portfolio of quality assets that will likely appreciate in value given their location. The
Company believes that these assets, collectively, will generate strong cash flows and a
well-capitalized balance sheet that will continue to strengthen, alongside value
creation from the portfolio.
Well-defined execution capability with proven track record of delivering growth
Leveraging the Company’s end-to-end capabilities as a real estate developer and
owner, encompassing site identification, master planning, development, marketing,
leasing, events, client relationship management, data analytics, the Company believes
that it has the ability and resources to create a market leading business model.
7

•

Standard project blueprint enables a highly cost efficient rapid roll-out
strategy across it business segments. The Company remains focused on
growing its business segments to achieve economies of scale and drive cost
efficiencies. For example, with its aim to be the largest community mall
player in first class municipalities and second- and third-class cities, the
rollout of its expansion plans allows the Company to achieve operational
efficiencies as it has the optionality to offer multiple CityMall construction
projects to the contractors within the same province. As a result of repeated
transactions with the local contractors, not only does the Company have
direct interaction with workers who have better on-the-ground experience in
sourcing labor and local materials, the Company believes that it gains
familiarity with the execution process to ensure that its development
timelines are met. Similar to CityMalls, the Company plans to scale up
significantly to dominate and be the largest player in the Philippines
hospitality and industrial segments to benefit from economies of scale. To
ensure rapid roll-out to achieve economies of scale, the Company has
developed and adopted a standardized approach to the development and
marketing of its business segments. For example, the timeline for the start of
development to stabilized operations for each of its CityMalls is
approximately 18 months (construction permit to opening of 12 months and
a further six months to stabilize), which has enabled the Company to deliver
new malls to the market in an expedited manner – delivered 25 operational
CityMalls as of December 31, 2017. Similarly, the Company is adopting a
standardized approach in developing its hotels and industrial leasing
businesses to shorten the development-to-cash generating cycle.

•

Proven execution ability in delivery. The Company believes that it has an
established execution track record. Just over three years since listing, the
Company has managed to build up an investment property portfolio with a
leasable area of 191,106.5 sq. m. as of December 31, 2017, representing
19.1% of the Company’s initial planned 1.0 million sq. m. of leasable space.
Given the pace of the Company’s growth and success in sourcing and securing
new sites, the Company has increased its leasable area target to 1.2 million
sq. m. by 2020. As of December 31, 2017, the Company believes it has also
secured 77% of its land bank needs for its enhanced 2020 plan of 1.2 million
sq. m. leasable area. The Company’s confidence in raising its target is also
due to its standardized and scalable operational model, which enables it to
establish a track record of timely delivery of its projects. In addition, the
Company has also displayed a track record of delivering high committed
occupancies for its investment properties:
o Average committed occupancy for its 25 operational CityMalls as of
December 31, 2017, is approximately 90% at opening; and
o As of December 31, 2017, towers one, two and three of DoubleDragon
Plaza were 82.0%, 100.0% and 86.0% pre-committed, respectively, while
the retail area of DoubleDragon Plaza was 61.7% pre-committed, and
Jollibee Tower was 60.0% pre-committed.
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•

Strategic acquisitions to enter into new business segments. In line with a
revised target leasable portfolio from 1.0 million sq. m. to 1.2 million sq. m.
by 2020, the Company has already made swift and strategic acquisitions to
enter into the hospitality and industrial leasing businesses. In October 2016,
the Company acquired 70% of HOA, an existing hotel business contributing
approximately 19,064.5 sq. m. to the leasable portfolio as of December 31,
2017, with plans to expand HOA to eventually contribute 100,000 sq. m. of
leasable space through the operation of 5,000 rooms by 2020. In August
2017, the Company announced its acquisition of a 6.2 hectare industrial lot
expected to contribute approximately 32,000 sq. m. of industrial leasing area,
with a target to acquire more sites to eventually contribute 100,000 sq. m.
towards the Company’s leasable portfolio by 2020. Recently, the Company
has also announced its new joint venture on the development of Hotel101
Resort-Boracay on Megaworld’s Boracay Newcoast development, and its
acquisition of a 3.9 hectare industrial lot in Iloilo for its second CentralHub
site. See “Future Hotel Developments” and “Industrial Leasing” for more
information.

•

Proven ability to raise funding. The Company has demonstrated a strong
ability to secure funding, raising approximately ₱40 billion in capital in the
last four years, the majority of which was used to ensure that the Company’s
initial target plan of 1.0 million sq. m. of leasable area was fully funded. The
Company has also been able to diversify sources of funds which include bank
borrowings, and issuance of Preferred Shares and fixed-rate corporate bonds,
which enhance the Company’s financial flexibility in raising capital.
Importantly, this has allowed the Company to react faster to growth and any
potential inorganic opportunities that is value accretive for its business e.g.
the acquisition of HOA.

Leading community mall business model in first class municipalities and secondand third-class cities
The Company believes that it is currently the dominant player in the modern format
branded community mall segment across Philippines. As of December 31, 2017, the
Company has secured 63 CityMall sites.
According to Savills’ estimates, the Company is expected to hold approximately
37.9% of the community mall stock in first class municipalities and second- and thirdclass cities by 2020. The Company believes that it is one of the first movers at the
forefront of retail modernization in first class municipalities and second- and thirdclass cities, and has created a business model that is positioned to significantly benefit
from the transition from traditional retail to modern retail, attributed to high barriers
of entry for foreign players and varying strategic focus of local players.
Foreign players face issues including the following: (i) constitutional restrictions,
which limit foreign ownership to not more than 40% for companies that own land and
retail businesses, among others, and (ii) a lack of local relationships, existing local
network and knowledge, preventing them from gaining access to land bank and
expanding on a similar scale. Based on Savills’ research, there is little competition
from foreign developers present in the market. Other domestic entrants in the
community malls segment include Waltermart Superkmarket, Inc., Gaisano Grand
9

Group, Gaisano Capital, Robinsons and Vista Land, but the pace of their expansion
and existing network across first class municipalities and second- and third-class
cities has not been as extensive as CityMall’s. In addition, most of these companies’
business models focus on supermarkets, unlike a typical CityMall which seeks to
offer the all-in-one modern shopping retail format (e.g. cinema, shopping, food and
beverage, and grocery shopping). Even for the larger local players, the focus remains
on Metro Manila and bigger cities.
Well-positioned to benefit from positive macroeconomic fundamentals, political
tailwinds and emerging opportunities within the industry sectors
The Philippines’s positive macroeconomic fundamentals support its strong growth
story trajectory. Philippine 2016 GDP growth of 6.9% was the highest witnessed in
the last three years, and its 2017 GDP growth of 6.7%, continued to exhibit strength.
According to Savills, the Philippines is expected to have one of the strongest real
GDP growth outlook forecast for 2018 in ASEAN with a GDP growth rate of
approximately 6.8%, and continues to be one of the largest economy in the region,
after Indonesia and Thailand.
The Philippine retail market is currently evolving from unorganized retail formats to
multi-tenanted malls, the latter providing a compelling alternative to traditional retail
pathways such as wet markets and provision shops, and introducing the modern
shopping experience to the local communities. The modern retail format is attractive
to customers as this provides them a one-stop platform for both discretionary and nondiscretionary consumption. In particular, the presence of a clean, air-conditioned
indoor one-stop mall in first class municipalities and second- and third-class cities is
expected to be highly attractive to the cities’ population. It is also attractive to tenants
given significantly higher footfall and sales per sq. m. achieved compared to
unorganized retail, and this format provides quality control with guaranteed
infrastructure and logistics that helps to build brand equity. The Company believes
this trend is only starting to occur in first class municipalities and second- and thirdclass cities, and its entry into these markets is well-timed to take advantage of this
shift.
President Duterte’s administration plans to refocus development towards the
agriculture, manufacturing and trade industries in the countryside and disperse
economic opportunity across all socioeconomic levels. In addition, initiatives are
being put in place to minimize red tape and streamline regulatory procedures in order
to accelerate development. This could accelerate economic growth in first class
municipalities and second- and third-class cities, increasing populations as more
businesses entering such areas, and potentially prompting increased demand for retail
space in such areas given stronger expected foot traffic amid new population
migrating for jobs, and increased disposable income. The current political thrust to
decentralize economic growth is also expected to benefit its CityMalls in first class
municipalities and second- and third-class cities.
Moreover, the Philippine economy has been expanding by greater than 6% per annum
since 2010. The robust growth reflects not just the sustained dynamism of the BPOled services sector but also the expansion of other key economic sub-sectors such as
construction, telecommunications, banking and finance, warehousing and logistics,
and manufacturing. Companies engaged in these businesses were compelled to
expand and thus occupy larger and high-quality office space. Demand for office real
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estate is also expected to benefit from the growing trend of offshore gaming in the
Philippines given similar space and infrastructure requirements as BPO offices. The
Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corp. (PAGCOR) has been granting recently
established POGO licenses for foreign nationals, as revenues from online gaming is
expected to eventually match revenues from traditional casinos.
According to Philippine News Agency, the Philippine Department of Tourism
recorded 6.62 million foreign tourist arrivals in 2017, 10.96% higher than the 5.97
million recorded in 2016. The growth of the Philippine tourism sector is expected to
be sustained by the influx of visitors from the country’s traditional markets such as
South Korea, USA, Japan, and China. The four economies account for nearly 60% of
annual tourist arrivals in the country. Warming relations between the Chinese and
Philippine governments should also result in more Chinese tourists. In late 2016, the
Philippine and Chinese governments signed an agreement on tourism cooperation that
includes exploring a possible increase in capacity entitlements in air services and
encouraging airlines to open new flights between Philippine cities in the Visayas and
Mindanao regions and Chinese cities. The sector should also benefit from the
spillover impact of the successful hosting of major international events in the past two
years such as APEC Summit, ASEAN Tourism Forum, Routes Asia, and Miss
Universe. With robust international arrivals and sustained rise in visitor receipts
(₱230 billion in 2016 from ₱227.6 billion in 2015), hotel occupancy in Metro Manila
increased by two-percentage points from 69% in the first half of 2016 to 71% by end2016. There are also major tourism-related infrastructure projects under the publicprivate partnership (PPP) program. For example, the government is working on a
comprehensive international airport development plan that covers the expansion and
privatization of Ninoy Aquino International Airport (NAIA); development of another
international airport in Bulacan or Sangley Point, Cavite; and expansion of Clark
airport. This is expected to bridge the country’s infrastructure gaps and enable the
government to meet or even surpass its visitor arrival target and entice more foreign
and local businessmen to invest in the country’s travel and tourism sector.
The Philippines’ favorable macroeconomic dynamics is expected to translate into
strong and sustainable demand for logistics facilities underpinned by limited stock of
logistics facilities, in particular modern logistics facilities in the Philippines. Strong
real GDP growth, private consumption, as well as a large and rapidly growing middleincome population is expected to boost the Philippine consumer market. Notably,
most of the Company’s current CityMall tenants are big time users of logistics space.
However, a majority of the current stock of logistics warehouses is old generation
properties and fragmented, which provide less efficient warehousing conditions. In
contrast, modern logistics warehouses carry features such as large floor areas, high
ceilings of 14 meters high, high load tolerances, wide column spacing within the
warehousing area, modern loading docks and enhanced safety systems which provide
greater accessibility and efficiency. According to Savills, demand for logistics
facilities and warehousing facilities is expected to grown with the expansion of the
modern retailing format in the Philippines and the growth of the manufacturing sector,
together with the improved infrastructure in the Philippines as a result of
Government-initiated infrastructure projects nationwide.
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Strong shareholders and partnerships with Philippines’ leading business groups
validate the Company’s vision and business model
The ability to attract and establish strategic relationships with the JFC, SM, and ABSCBN Groups validates its vision, positioning and execution capabilities as the leading
owner, operator, and developer of branded community malls across first class
municipalities and second- and third-class cities in the Philippines. The SM Group’s
“SaveMore” supermarket brand is the anchor tenant in a majority of CityMalls, along
with several best-in-category SM brands represented in various CityMall branches.
The JFC Group food brands anchor the “FoodWorld” section of every CityMall and
the Company consider this to be an irreplaceable advantage of the partnership and
highly attractive for its consumers. In addition, the Company have also teamed up
with broadcasting giant ABS-CBN to roll out cinemas in CityMalls branches
nationwide. Together, these strategic partnerships are expected to solidify the
dominance of CityMalls all over the Philippines.
Its partnerships with other business groups have also provided it with the ability to
rapidly and significantly expand into the hospitality and office sectors and gain access
to valuable land sites. The Company acquired a 70% stake in HOA, which will now
serve as its hospitality arm through three star hotels Hotel 101 and Jinjiang Inn
located in prime locations across key cities in the Philippines. Its strategic partnership
with JFC also includes the establishment of a joint venture to develop Jollibee Tower,
a 40-storey commercial and office tower on a prime commercial lot in Ortigas. DD
Meridian Park, a joint venture between DD (70%) and the initial land owner (30%), is
strategically located as it is situated in the corner of EDSA, Roxas Boulevard and
Macapagal Avenue, main thoroughfares in Metro Manila close to the Entertainment
City and the SM Mall of Asia complex.
Experienced board and management team with strong corporate governance
The Company’s board of directors is highly experienced, with an average of 30 years
of experience in the Philippine real estate and commercial sectors. The board is led at
the helm by its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Edgar “Injap” Sia, whose
experience stems from growing the Mang Inasal chain from one branch in his
hometown of Iloilo City in 2003 to over 338 branches nationwide by 2010. Its CoChairman Tony Tan Caktiong opened his first ice cream parlor at the age of 22, and
since then, Jollibee has grown to become the largest fast food chain in the Philippines.
Injap’s and Tony’s foresight in entering the QSR business ahead of competitors and
the knowledge they have obtained from expanding their businesses in first class
municipalities and second- and third-class cities will be instrumental in growing the
Company and enabling it to achieve its targets.
Similarly, the Company’s senior management team has a proven track record in
developing, investing in, managing, and enhancing commercial real estate, possessing
an average of 12 years of experience on average in the Philippine real estate and
commercial sectors. The team covers the entire value chain of the business, including
asset development and enhancement, asset management, and commercial operations.
The Company has also adopted governance policies and mechanisms to serve as its
foundation and guiding principle for good governance. The Company also continues
to adopt policies and mechanisms in accordance with established rules and best
practices.
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BUSINESS STRATEGIES
A nationwide expansion plan to grow recurring income stream across 4 property
pillars: retail, office, industrial and hospitality
The Company is working towards building a strong base of recurring revenue through
the accumulation of 1.2 million sq. m. of leasable space nationwide by 2020, across
the retail, office, industrial and industrial property segments. The Company has
established a successful track record of expansion by accumulating an investment
property portfolio with a leasable area of 191,106.5 sq. m. as of December 31, 2017,
representing 19.1% of the Company’s initial planned 1.0 million sq. m. of leasable
space. The significant pace of execution was achieved through two key success
factors:
•

•

Direct access to land bank opportunities, and a high level of familiarity with
first class municipalities and second- and third-class cities resulting in the
ability to transact quickly; and
Adaptable approach to site acquisition by entering into joint ventures or
strategic alliances with landowners, which contribute land to the joint
venture while the Group provides its development expertise.

The Company believes that it remains on track to achieve the 2020 target, with the
Company raising its 2020 leasable area target from 1.0 million sq. m. to 1.2 million
sq. m. Of its 2020 leasable area target, 1.0 million sq. m. of leasable area has been
funded by capital raised to date, and the diversified business model that the Company
is building out will broaden its earnings base and provide stable and recurring sources
of cash flows to fund its next stage of growth.
The Company intends to establish a nationwide footprint through strategically
selected projects that are located in prime locations both in Metro Manila and the
different provinces in the Philippines. The Company believes that the combination of
macroeconomic factors and sector trends across the country is expected to support a
robust outlook in the near and medium term period. This would allow the Company to
diversify its recurring income source through a balance of stable growth and high
growth industries. Specifically, while the Metro Manila office leasing space provides
a stable base of income stream, the Company believes that the remaining portfolio is
well positioned for upside given exposure to the following trends:
•

•

•

Transition of traditional retail to modern retail. According to Savills,
modern retail is still in its early stages in first class municipalities and
second- and third-class cities, which, coupled with the significant GDP and
population growth the Philippines, indicates that the Philippine retail market
is geared towards significant growth.
Strong and sustainable demand for logistics facilities underpinned by
limited supply, in particular modern logistics facilities in the
Philippines. According to Savills, the current supply of quality logistics
facilities in the Philippines is fragmented, as there is no one major owner of
logistics facilities across the country.
Tourism sector expected to remain a key contributor of the Philippines
economy. According to Savills, inbound tourism expenditure grew 2.3% in
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2016 compared to 2015, and tourist arrivals are estimated to increase to 10
million by 2020 compared to 5.8 million in 2016.
Identifying shifts and capitalizing on real estate segments where it can be a leading
player
Prior to entering a segment, the Company put in significant effort to conduct in-depth
market research and analysis to help it identify markets where the Company has the
resources and ability to dominate either now, or over a period of time.
One of the transitions that the Company had observed earlier was the evolution of
traditional retail into modern retail in first class municipalities and second- and thirdclass cities – particularly notable in the supermarket segment, which is relevant to the
its business model since the supermarket typically occupies one-third of the leasable
space of CityMalls. To leverage on this trend, the Company conceptualized CityMalls
such that it was able to utilize the growing shift of retailers from traditional to modern
formats, offering select retail stores in addition to its anchor hardware, appliance and
supermarket stores, among others. The Company continues to reinforce that CityMall
is a replacement to traditional retail, tapping its existing demand. Given its success in
this segment, one of the focus points is to entrench its market-leading position as the
largest and fastest-growing retail developer, owner and operator of community malls
in provincial areas of the Philippines
•

•

•

The Company’s target is to achieve a portfolio of 100 CityMalls across first
class municipalities and second- and third-class cities by 2020. Its key
strategy is to continue to develop, own and operate a nationwide retail mall
network, funding further expansion by using recurring income from its
operating malls as well as profits from the sale of its development properties,
supported by additional debt funding if required.
The Company will continue to innovate, to implement optimal tenant mixes
best suited to the Philippine consumer, to introduce new retail experiences
adapted to market dynamics, and to adapt best practices and concepts from
retail leaders elsewhere in Southeast Asia; and
Outside capitalizing on the Jollibee and SM brands, the Company will also
continue to create barriers into the community mall segment, by targeting
underserved lower tier areas. The Company chooses such sites based on the
following criteria: (i) sites that give the Company a first-mover advantage in
areas where there is less operational baggage from costs, but also (ii) sites
where the Company are familiar with and (iii) sites with scarce presence of
competitors and suitably sized lots within and in surrounding prime city
center areas.

The Company continues to believe that the tourist segment will be an important
economic sector for the country. For example, according to Savills, tourist arrivals
from China for the first half of 2017 surged by 33.4% to 455,000 compared to
341,000 for the same period in 2016, and the Philippine Department of Tourism
estimates that visitors from China will hit the one million mark in 2017. As of
December 31, 2017, the Company had a total of 866 operational hotel rooms and
plans to increase this to 5,000 rooms under its Jinjiang and Hotel 101 brands –
essentially giving it a market dominating position over other major real estate players
which have around 3,000 hotel rooms.
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Another major observation is that warehousing in the Philippines is currently
fragmented, and there remains favorable local macroeconomic dynamics to translate
into strong and sustainable demand for logistics facilities and underpinned by limited
stock of existing logistics facilities. Given the significant overlap of tenants in its
retail mall business and their corresponding needs for industrial space, the Company
believes that it is in a position to not only tap into this existing demand but to also
help its tenants achieve operating efficiencies. The current industrial landscape is such
that majority of the current stock of logistics warehouse is old generation and
fragmented properties that often provide less efficient warehousing conditions –
existing warehouses are not suitable for distribution needs as one of the key
specifications requires the floor-to-ceiling height to be 14 meters high, while most of
the current facilities are only six meters high.
The Company’s industrial business model is focused on providing modern logistics
warehouses with features to drive greater accessibility and efficiency, and its ability to
execute this strategy is underpinned by its shareholders who have experience in food
and beverage, commissaries, cold storage logistics – a large part of each industrial
center’s leasable space is catered to these specific segments. The Company sees its
CentralHub industrial centers as the first branded modern industrial center chain in
the Philippines, and like CityMall and Hotel 101, all industrial centers will look the
same and will be located in strategic locations around the country. The Company
believes that through this segment, it will be able to provide an additional layer of
service to its retail tenants, and increase their level of stickiness to its overall
ecosystem, thus allowing the Company to dominate in this segment.
The Company believes that its overall business model is highly sustainable. The
Company is positioned to capitalize on emerging industry trends, and more
importantly, its businesses are setup to serve the “sweet-spot” of the demographics i.e.
the low to middle income population. The Company intends to leverage its leading
market position, exploit economies of scale and its local market knowledge to
consolidate and continue to grow its market share over time.
Focus on building recurring revenue based on a foundation of appreciating assets
and operate a capital efficient business model
The Company is focused on developing properties that will create a steady stream of
cash flows backed by a string of appreciating assets. The Company believes that cash
flows sourced from recurring revenue streams are of greater quality than cash flows
generated from sale of properties which are non-recurring in nature and are dependent
on continued reinvestment. The Company has successfully grown its recurring
revenues as a percentage of total revenues from 6.0% and 9.4% in 2015 and 2016,
respectively, to 19.8% in 2017.
The Company’s envisioned 1.2 million sq. m. of leasable space by 2020 is expected to
generate cash flows and project yields that will organically grow without continuous
capital outlay, primarily driven by the embedded escalation rates in its lease contracts
with its tenants.
The Company books its assets held for lease as investment property. As it has adopted
the fair value method, investment properties are revalued on an annual basis by a third
party appraiser based on comparable market transactions relative to the location of the
Company’s properties held for lease. Generally, the Company’s investment properties
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have seen substantial gains from revaluation on top of cash flows contributed from
leasing operations.
The Company’s business model is also geared to be highly capital efficient in
deployment of capital once it achieves scale in its CityMalls expansion, coupled with
the completion of other developments that are earmarked to provide recurring income.
This is mostly driven by CityMall’s relatively quick churn rate, with an estimated
time to completion of 12 months and a further six months to stabilize, thus ensuring
that raised capital is quickly converted into cash-generating hard assets.
For its Hotel 101 business, the Company has adopted a “sale-and-managed” model,
where individual condotel units are sold to third party investors but the Company
continues to manage the condotel units post-sale. Sale proceeds are consequentially
used to fund the development cost, which reduces its equity requirements for any
project. In addition, the Company plans to subfranchise its Jinjiang Inn brand, and
under this model, the capital expenditure for any repairs of these subfranchised hotels
is to be borne by the subfranchisee. Overall, these streams of income will reduce the
equity contribution required from the Company to fund any future capital expenditure
plans.
Maintain a strong balance sheet, prudent risk and capital management and good
governance
By maintaining a strong balance sheet, the Company believes that it is in a position to
withstand economic and financial cycles, while allowing it to fund its planned
expansion. This will also give it the flexibility to make acquisitions or fund capital
expenditures when opportunities arise. In addition, the Company believes that its
strong balance sheet is reinforced by its cost efficient business model – rollout of
expansion plans for CityMall, Hotel 101 and industrial centers via the same format
allows for economies of scale and reduces any cost inefficiencies that could result
from unnecessities.
The Company intends to take a disciplined approach to the allocation of capital across
its projects, with the strict application of hurdle rates and benchmarks for each
investment. Its planned capital expenditure is principally earmarked for the expansion
of its mall network. The Company plans to fund its capital expenditure plan through
its recurring income, pre-sales, external financing, and its access to diverse sources of
funds will increase its financial flexibility. Of its 2020 leasable area target, 1.0 million
sq. m. of leasable area has been funded by capital raisings raised till date. The
Company has been a repeat issuer in the domestic bond market, including bonds
arranged by BPI Capital Corporation, BDO Capital & Investment Corporation,
Maybank ATR Kim Eng Capital Partners Inc., and RCBC Capital Corporation,
demonstrating its established relationships across both domestic and international
banks. Besides the domestic bond market, the Company has also tapped into
diversified sources of funding which include Preferred Shares and bank funding,
highlighting its diversified capital base, comprising of retail and institutional
investors.
The Company also plans to manage its debt maturity profile, reduce cost of funding
and diversify its sources of funding, including potentially accessing the capital
markets again. To achieve these objectives, its key areas of focus are as follows:
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• Company’s focus on developments with a “for-sale” component, pre-sale
proceeds from the sales can be used to partially fund the development costs of
the project components;
• Reduce cost of funding by growing a steady stream of recurring rental income
while utilizing pre-sales to reduce overall funding needs;
• Continue to diversify funding sources and lower its cost of capital by
monitoring the markets for favorable opportunities to build up its capital
resources through various financing options such as equity issuances, loans
and public debt issuances, among others; and
• Continue to look at longer-term and fixed rate funding to reduce refinancing
risk and ensure little interest rate volatility. As of December 31, 2017, the debt
maturity of the Company’s long-term debt is 5.85 years, indicating minimal
near-term refinancing risk. As of December 31, 2017, the average cost of
funding of the Company’s long-term funding (excluding short-term lines for
working capital) is 6.1089%, which is at an approximate spread of 1.3589%
to the 10-year Philippines government bond yield to maturity of
approximately 4.7500%.
RETAIL LEASING
The Company operates its retail leasing segment primarily through its subsidiary,
CMCCI. As of December 31, 2017, the Company owns and operates 25 CityMalls,
with a total leasable area of 147,805.97 sq. m., primarily located in the provincial
areas of the Philippines. The Company also has 20 CityMalls under construction,
with an additional land bank for 18 CityMalls. CMCCI is 66% owned by the
Company and 34% owned by SMIC, the holding company for one of the largest
conglomerates in the Philippines. The Company believes CityMall is the first branded
independent community mall chain to focus on the provincial areas in the Philippines.
The table below sets forth the number of the Company’s operational CityMalls as of
December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017:

Number of Operational CityMalls ..........
CityMall Sites Secured ...........................

As of December 31,
2015
2016
2017
5
10
25
40
54
63
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The map below shows the locations of the Company’s existing malls and under
construction as of December 31, 2017:
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Of the 63 sites, 25 are now operational and the status of the remaining 38 sites as of
December 31, 2017 is as follows:
CityMall

Status

Target Completion Year

CM-Mayombo

Under construction

2018

CM-Bulua

Under construction

2018

CM-Iponan, CDO

Under construction

2018

CM-Isulan

Under construction

2018

CM-San Carlos, Pangasinan

Under construction

2018

CM-Cadiz

Under construction

2018

CM-Tuguegarao

Under construction

2018

Planning & Design Stage

2018

CM-Los Baños

Under construction

2018

CM-Bacalso

Under construction

2018

CM-Sorsogon

Under construction

2018

CM-Dipolog

Under construction

2018

CM-Pavia

Under construction

2018

CM-Roxas Ave.

Under construction

2018

CM-Calapan

Under construction

2018

CM-Guiwan

Under construction

2018

CM-Aparri

Under construction

2018

CM-Antique

Under construction

2018

CM-General Trias

CM-Ormoc

Under construction

2018

Planning & Design Stage

2018

CM-Palo

Under construction

2018

CM-Ozamiz

Under construction

2018

CM-Surigao

Under construction
Planning & Design Stage

2018

CM-Pagadian

CM-Balibago, Sta. Rosa
CM-Guimaras
CM-Dinalupihan
CM-Arayat
CM-Northtown Davao
CM-Tagbilaran
CM-Bongabon, NE
CM-Basilan
CM-Lucena
CM-Lam-an Ozamiz
CM-San Enrique
CM-Baler

Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage
Planning & Design Stage

2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018-2019
2018
2018-2019

CM Bais

Planning & Design Stage

2018-2019

CM La Carlota

Planning & Design Stage

2018-2019

CM-Bocaue, Bulacan

Planning & Design Stage

2018-2019
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A majority of the costs for the acquisition and development of the foregoing CityMall
sites are expected to be taken from the proceeds of the bonds and Preferred Shares
issued by the Company as well as internally generated funds.
All CityMalls have a standard color, design, look, feel and approximate size. The
Company believes that the standardization of the CityMalls makes the mall design a
brand unto itself. The photos below depict the typical look of a CityMall:

Above: Photo of CityMall Boracay

CityMall provides prime and strategic locations in the heart of the community that it
serves, locating the malls close to national highways in order to amplify visibility and
ensure the mall is in the city center for maximum exposure. CityMall caters to top
Philippine fast food brands such as Jollibee, Mang Inasal, Chowking, Greenwich, Red
Ribbon and Highlands Coffee, as well as to leading retailers, including SM Group
brands Savemore, Ace Hardware, Watson’s, SM Appliance, Simply Shoes, and banks
such as BDO and Chinabank Savings Bank. The Company believes that CityMall
provides the platform in which modern retail brands can expand into the provinces
because it is the first modern retail format in most of the cities that it is penetrating.
The photo below shows how a typical “FoodWorld” in a CityMall would look like.
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In December 2016, CMCCI and ABS-CBN Corporation partnered to roll out cinemas
in various CityMall locations. As of December 31, 2017, eight cinemas have been
opened (CM-Anabu, CM-Consolacion, CM-Tagum, CM-Sta. Rosa, Nueva Ecija,
CM-Dumaguete, CM-Victorias, CM-Mandalagan and CM-Boracay.) Each cinema is
expected to have a seating capacity of 100 to 120 seats. The Company believes that
CityMall can serve to fill the entertainment gap that currently exists in the provincial
areas since a majority of the 140 cities in the Philippines currently do not have
cinemas.
As part of its commitment to sustainable development, the Company intends to
“greenergize” its CityMalls, deploying rainwater collection systems and/or solar
panels when possible.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the leasable area of the
following CityMalls as of December 31, 2017:

Store Name

Year Opened

Tenant Leasable Area(1)
(sq. m.)

% Leased Out

4,972.90

99.20%

5,438.09

98.16%

8,318.21

99.90%

5,626.44

99.89%

4,495.79

100.00%

4,809.69

99.92%

4,528.39

97.71%

2,602.54

99.69%

7,909.08

93.81%

9,643.72

85.84%

6,146.54

99.84%

6,172.93

94.96%

3,561.44

86.15%

5,460.55

99.93%

8,960.92

94.54%

CM - Arnaldo, Roxas

2015

CM - Consolacion

2015

CM - Anabu, Imus Cavite

2015

CM - Tetuan, Zamboanga

2015

CM - Tagbak, Jaro

2015

CM - Kalibo

2016

CM - Tiaong, Quezon

2016

CM - Parola, Iloilo

2016

CM - Cotabato City

2016

CM - Mandalagan,Bacolod

2016

CM - Kabankalan City

2017

CM - Victorias City

2017

CM - San Carlos

2017

CM - Boracay

2017

CM - Tagum

2017

CM - SCTEX

2017

2,527.56

CM - Tarlac

2017

6,399.49

CM - Dumaguete

2017

7,131.19

CM - Goldenfields

2017

6,397.64

CM - Dau

2017

5,151.44

CM - Passi

2017

3,915.65

CM - Santa Rosa

2017

8,819.83

83.56%
89.44%
94.66%
95.57%
97.44%
99.85%
99.41%
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Year Opened

Tenant Leasable Area(1)
(sq. m.)

CM - Danao

2017

7,291.18

CM - Calamba

2017

5,761.17

CM - Koronadal

2017

5,763.59

Store Name

TOTAL

% Leased Out
78.80%
99.36%
99.62%

147,805.97

Note:
(1) “Tenant Leasable Area” means the actual area occupied by the tenants of the relevant CityMall.
(2) The leasable area for the other 28 CityMalls have yet to be finally determined.

Leasing Policies
The Company’s leasing policies in relation to each of its CityMalls is to screen
applicants carefully and to secure an appropriate mix of tenants, both in terms of the
nature of their business and their size, which cater to the needs and demands of the
community which each such CityMall serves. The Company aims to not have any
duplication within its tenant mix.
The Company’s tenancies are generally granted for a term of three to five years, with
the exception of some of the larger anchor tenants, whose tenancies can last for up to
15 years, and kiosks which are on annual lease terms, with each renewable on an
annual basis thereafter. Generally, six months’ notice is required for termination of
leases for a term of three to five years, and three months’ notice is required for annual
leases. Further, tenants are generally required to pay a six-month deposit at the
commencement of the lease. A majority of the Company’s leases are on fixed annual
rates, subject to annual escalation clauses. Certain tenants of the Company, such as
fast food tenants, pay rent based on a percentage of their revenues.
Leasable spaces are delivered bare by the Company to its tenants. The Company’s
tenants are responsible for the fit-out of their respective leased spaces, and are
required to return such spaces to the Company in bare shell at the end of the lease
term.
Marketing and Management of the Malls
The Company employs an in-house leasing team of 12 people to find tenants for the
Company’s CityMalls. The Company’s leasing team is in charge of the general
promotion and marketing of CityMalls.
The Company also deploys a mall manager and technical head to each CityMall to
oversee day-to-day operations. Other services such as maintenance, engineering,
janitorial and security services are outsourced by the Company to reputable third
party service providers on an annual contractual basis. These contracts can usually be
terminated at any time, such as if the contractor fails to perform at an acceptable level.
The Company, through its subsidiary DoubleDragon Property Management Corp.
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(“DDPMC”), charges the tenants CUSA fees for such services. DDPMC likewise
charges tenants for service fees for the provision of utilities such as water and
electricity.
Mall Layout
The Company employs uniform standards for mall layout and design, equipment,
quality of construction and the composition of building and finishing materials. The
Company believes that employing uniform standards across stores not only helps
develop the layout as a brand unto itself, but also helps limit construction and
refurbishment costs, as well as improve customer satisfaction and loyalty, since
customers are able to experience a similar environment with a familiar shopping
experience regardless of location.
The floor plan below is a sample layout of a CityMall.

Mall Development
With the guidance and supervision of the Company’s CEO, the Company identifies
viable sites for the construction of new CityMalls. The Company determines the
viability of a potential plot of land for a new CityMall site based on the demographics
of the area, including the size of the population, its income levels, local government
and the local infrastructure. Once a suitable site is selected, based on the factors
described above, the Company then determines the size of the mall, with each
CityMall having a gross floor area between 4,000 to 22,000 sq. m. The construction
and development of each CityMall is overseen by a third party project management
company appointed by the Company. The average time for construction of each
CityMall is 12 months, depending on the size of the mall. The Company has
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generally financed land purchases and the construction of its CityMalls from its longterm borrowings and equity issuances.
The Company believes it operates a cost efficient business model for mall
development, whereby each mall is built by local contractors which allows for direct
interaction with personnel who have better on-the-ground experience in sourcing
labor and materials in the local area. In addition, the Company believes that it enjoys
economies of scale by offering individual contractors the opportunity to compete for
multiple construction projects.
The Company is currently in the process of identifying locations suitable for new
CityMall sites with a particular focus on the Visayas and Mindanao regions. The
Company has three methods of securing properties:
•

direct acquisition: 100% ownership over the property through its subsidiary
CMCCI

•

joint venture: 70% ownership over the property through CMCCI; 30%
ownership retained by the landowner

•

long term lease: minimum term of 26 years

The Company’s preference is to directly acquire properties for CityMall in order to
benefit from property appreciation in the city centers in the provinces. The joint
venture method still allows the Company to benefit from property appreciation by
owning at least 70% of the joint venture company that holds the land title. However,
in cases where the property location is compelling for the development of a CityMall,
and there is no opportunity for a direct acquisition or a joint venture with the
landowner, then the Company will negotiate a long-term lease, with a minimum term
of 26 years with the landowner. Long-term leases include provisions such as, but not
limited to, the Company receiving the right of first refusal over the future sale of the
property, which will allow the Company to potentially directly acquire the property at
a later date.
Competition
Since CityMall was conceptualized to be the modern alternative to traditional retailers
in the provinces, the Company believes that traditional retailers would primarily be
considered as the current competitors of CityMall. However, traditional retailers are
often less organized and do not have the branding strength or critical mass that the
Company can achieve through the nationwide roll out of its CityMalls. The existing
traditional retailers are also more often than not locally owned and specific only to
that city or region. Currently, only a fraction of the pricing advantage previously
enjoyed by local retailers exists. The Company believes this pricing advantage will
continue to be reduced or eliminated in the near term as branded retailers continue to
penetrate the provinces. Other community mall developers could potentially be
considered competitors to CityMall, although the Company believes that it has the
advantage of familiarity, focus and actual business experience in these provincial
areas of the Philippines.
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Other Malls
Dragon8 Mall
Dragon8 Mall was a partially constructed project acquired by the Company on May 2,
2014. The project is located on a 5,972 sq. m. prime corner lot at C.M. Recto corner
Dagupan Streets, Divisoria in Manila. In line with the area being known as a micro
retail destination, Dragon8 Mall offers micro retailers a modern version of the mall
stall units currently being offered within the vicinity at similar prices.
The Company sells 16 year leasehold rights on the mall stall units, which gives
locators the exclusive right to lease the said units for the duration of the leasehold
contract. A portion of the development is also being leased out directly to tenants and
form part of the leasable portfolio of the Company. Dragon8 Mall has approximately
9,800 sq. m. of leasable space and houses approximately 300 parking spaces for the
convenience of its shoppers.
The Company resumed the construction and renovation of the property upon
acquisition and opened its doors to the public on June 30, 2015, approximately a year
after its acquisition. As of December 31, 2017, the occupancy rate of Dragon8 Mall is
at 99.5%
Umbria Mall
The Company partnered with the Aryana Group, through Piccadilly Circus Landing,
Inc., to develop the Umbria Commercial Center in Binan, Laguna. Umbria
Commercial Center is a multi-story structure housing specialty shops, casual dining,
cafes and deli shops, convenience and drug store, wellness and beauty centers, and a
supermarket. A key design feature of the mall is its architecture which is inspired by
the umbrella-like structure in L’Umbracle Gardens in Valencia, Spain. Umbria
Commercial Center opened on December 2, 2016.
OFFICE LEASING
The Company’s office leasing segment primarily consists of two key projects
currently under development, DD Meridian Park and Jollibee Tower.
DD Meridian Park
DD Meridian Park is a 4.75-hectare project in the Bay Area of Pasay City, located at
the corner of Diosdado Macapagal Boulevard and EDSA Extension. The subsidiary
that owns the project, DD-Meridian Park Development Corp. (“DDMPC”), is 70%
owned by the Company. Once fully completed, DD Meridian Park is expected to
have 280,000 sq. m. of leasable space that will primarily be used for BPO,
outsourcing and support service offices, and corporate offices.
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The picture below depicts the current construction progress of phase 1 of DD
Meridian Park:

Phase 1 of the project is the construction of DoubleDragon Plaza, consisting of four
11-storey towers with a retail area on the ground floor, parking on the 2nd to 3rd levels,
and BPO offices from the 5th to the 11th levels. DoubleDragon Plaza is expected to
provide approximately 139,364 sq. m. of leasable space. The ground floor retail area
is expected to have 12,318 sq. m. dedicated to established food concepts, basic
services, a supermarket and a themed food hall. In addition, phase 1 is expected to
include 2,278 parking spaces (including lifts). The Company has commenced with the
construction of phase 1, which is 96.3% complete as of December 31, 2017. The table
below shows the leased out space of phase 1 of the project as of December 31, 2017:
Leasable Area
(in sq. m. )

% Leased Out

DD-Meridian Park (Phase 1)
Tower 1
Tower 2

34,545.11
31,462.01

Office
89.80%
100.00%

Tower 3
Tower 4

31,468.03

100.00%

29,570.62

100.00%

Retail

61.68%

Phase 2 of the project includes two additional office towers, DoubleDragon Center
East and DoubleDragon Center West, both of which will be connected to
DoubleDragon Plaza by an elevated walkway. Phase 2 is expected to add
approximately 30,000 sq. m. of leasable space, and to primarily consist of corporate
offices that cater to the BPO industry and provide expansion space for tenants that
may want to phase out their office space requirements. As of December 31, 2017,
phase 2 is 23.3% complete.
On June 19, 2017, the Company, through its subsidiary DDMPC, entered into a
Technical Advisory Agreement and Serviced Residence Management Agreement
with Scotts Philippines Inc., in relation to the development and management of a five26

star luxury serviced apartment as phase 3 of DD-Meridian Park. Phase 3 is expected
to cover 5,567 sq. m. and is expected to have over 300 luxury serviced apartment
units. The serviced apartment is expected carry the Ascott Limited brand. Ascott
Limited is a leading international serviced residence owner-operator, with more than
300 properties in over 100 cities across America, Asia-Pacific, Europe and the Middle
East. The Company believes the project is an ideal site for a luxury serviced
apartment complex, given its close proximity to the Manila airport, Department of
Foreign Affairs, Mall of Asia and Entertainment City. Construction of Ascott-branded
serviced residences is expected to commence in 2018, and the development is
expected to be complete and operational by 2020.
Phase 4 is expected to consist of DoubleDragon Tower, an 11-storey building with
views of the Bay Area and Pasay City. Phase 4 is to be developed on a lot area of
5,618 sq. m. The building’s eight office floors are expected to have a leasable floor
area of 35,540 sq. m. and will be ideal for both startups and established companies.
Two floors will be dedicated to commercial establishments suitable for retails shops,
restaurants and other entertainment options which is expected to add another 5,958 sq.
m. of leasable floor area. The Company expects to complete phase 4 in 2020.
In line with the Company’s commitment to sustainable development, the Company
has been pre-certified for a silver Leadership in Energy & Environmental Design
(“LEED”) certification for DoubleDragon Plaza. To receive LEED certification,
DoubleDragon Plaza must satisfy prerequisites and earn points to achieve different
levels of certification. LEED is a green building certification program that recognizes
best-in-class building strategies and practices. LEED certified buildings save money
and resources and have a positive impact on the health of occupants, while promoting
renewable, clean energy.
Jollibee Tower
Jollibee Tower is a Grade A 41-storey commercial and office tower situated on a
3,002 sq. m lot in the heart of the Ortigas central business district in Metro Manila.
The project, which is expected to be completed in 2018, is expected to include 47,909
sq. m. of leasable office space. The project is a joint venture between the Company
and JFC, who will serve as the building’s anchor tenant.
The picture below depicts an artist’s rendering of Jollibee Tower upon completion.
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On August 26, 2015, the Company signed a joint venture agreement with JFC to
develop Jollibee Tower. Under the joint venture agreement, JFC will contribute the
land for the project in exchange for 15% of the project’s leasable floor area, while the
Company will serve as the sole developer in exchange for the remaining 85% of the
project’s leasable floor area. In addition to the floor area received under the joint
venture agreement, as anchor tenant, JFC is expected to lease additional office space
directly from the Company to accommodate their corporate office requirements. As
of December 31, 2017, no lease agreements with respect to Jollibee Tower have been
signed.
The ground floor of Jollibee Tower is expected to include commercial spaces, while
the second and third floors are expected to be used as general events space. The
remaining floors will be leased as office space and are expected to include more than
1,000 parking spaces, which will be leased out to tenants on a monthly basis. The
tower will also feature a garden deck with a helicopter landing pad. Construction of
the project is 14.2% complete as of December 31, 2017 and is expected to be
completed by the fourth quarter of 2018.
The Jollibee Tower is pre-certified for a gold LEED certification in line with the
Company’s desire to promote sustainable developments through “green” technology.
To receive LEED certification, Jollibee Tower must satisfy prerequisites and earn
points to achieve different levels of certification. The exterior of the building is
expected to be made of double-glazed glass curtain wall for increased energy
efficiency. The Company believes the structure is poised to become one of the
prominent landmarks in the Ortigas skyline.
Leasing Policies
The Company’s office space tenancies are generally granted for a term of five to ten
years. Leases may not be pre-terminated prior to the fifth year of the lease term, and
any pre-termination requires 6 months’ prior notice. The Company also requires the
payment of 6 months’ of security deposit and advance rent at the commencement of
the lease. The Company’s leases are on fixed annual rates, subject to annual
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escalation clauses. Upon expiry of the lease, the rental rates are adjusted to reflect the
prevailing market rent.
Leasable spaces are delivered in bare shell form by the Company to its tenants. The
Company’s tenants are responsible for the fit-out of their respective leased spaces,
and are required to return such spaces to the Company in bare shell at the end of the
lease term.
Management and Marketing
The Company employs an in-house project department with a headcount of two
people to find tenants for the Company’s office spaces. The Company also relies on
professional, multinational commercial real estate leasing agents such as Leechiu &
Associates, Colliers, KMC Savills and Santos Knight Frank to find tenants for its DD
Meridian Park office space.
The Company intends to deploy administrative staff to each of its office projects once
these are operational to oversee day-to-day operations. Other services such as
maintenance, engineering, janitorial and security services will be outsourced by the
Company to reputable third party service providers on an annual contractual basis.
These contracts can usually be terminated at any time, such as if the contractor fails to
perform at an acceptable level. The Company, through its subsidiary DDPMC, will
charge the tenants CUSA fees for such services. DDPMC will likewise charge tenants
for service fees for the provision of utilities such as water and electricity.
Competition
For the office segment, the Company will compete with a majority of property players
that are also invested in the office segment. The office segment is dependent on the
continuous growth of the BPO industry in the Philippines, which make up majority of
the end users in this market. Economic downturns could potentially affect this sector,
thus, in order to minimize risk, the Company has only developed office projects
within the top five prime locations for these types of developments.
The Company believes DoubleDragon Plaza’s direct competition would be Tower II
& III of Filinvest Cyberzone Pasay as well as SM Three E-Com, which will also be
coming online approximately the same time. The Company believes the location of
DD Meridian Park offers it a competitive advantage as to those of its competitors
because it is at the entrance of the Bay Area and closer to the transportation hub being
at the corners of Roxas Boulevard, EDSA and Macapagal Avenue. Jollibee Tower is
in direct competition with Robinsons Cyberscape Gamma and Eton Sunrise, both of
which are office developments in the Ortigas area to be turned over in the same year.
HOSPITALITY
The Company’s hospitality segment is operated through its subsidiary, HOA, which is
70% owned by the Company. HOA’s hospitality operations are comprised of 866
operating hotel rooms, including the Company’s own hotel brand, “Hotel 101”,
located in the Manila Bay Area near the Mall of Asia. CSI Hotels, Inc., a 50%-owned
subsidiary of HOA, is the Philippines’ master franchisee of the “Jinjiang Inn” brand,
one of the largest hotel brands in Asia, with two hotels in operation in Ortigas and
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Makati, Metro Manila, that primarily target Chinese tourists. HOA also operates Injap
Tower, a 21-storey condotel located in Iloilo City. HOA also operates Injap Tower, a
21-storey condotel located in Iloilo City. The Company has six hotels under
development (including one Hotel101 under construction in Fort Bonifacio Global
City), which are expected to add 2,551 hotel rooms to the Company’s hospitality
operations by 2020.
The Company believes that its foray into the hospitality sector will allow it to benefit
from the significant tourism prospects for the Philippines, as well as fully optimize
the use and value of its string of prime properties in strategic locations throughout the
country.
Hotels in Operation
Hotel101
HOA created the “Hotel101” brand primarily to be an alternative accommodation,
with services and facilities that address the needs of a fast-paced leisure and business
environment. The first Hotel 101 branded hotel opened in June 8, 2016 and is located
in the Manila Bay Area, only a few blocks from the Mall of Asia, the largest mall in
the Philippines and one of the largest malls in Asia. The hotel has a gross floor area of
22,880.3 sq. m. across 14 floors. The hotel offers 518 uniformly sized rooms, a
spacious lobby, where guests can relax, conduct business, or meet with friends as well
as a swimming pool, kiddie pool and outdoor jacuzzi, which opens to the famous
Manila Bay sunset. Located on the ground floor is its restaurant Amico, which serves
breakfast buffet, and offers a la carte lunch and dinner, serving international cuisines.
The units in Hotel101 are sold to buyers prior to construction completion and
opening. The buyers receive individual condominium titles, and likewise are able to
receive income share from the hotel’s revenues. The Company continues to manage
the hotel, and shares a portion of the gross revenue with the individual unit owners in
accordance with respective management agreements. The hotel is managed by Hotel
101 Management Corp, a wholly owned subsidiary of HOA, under a 25-year
management contract (with an option to extend for another 25 years).
Hotel101 Manila offers rooms at a rack rate of ₱3,900, and recorded an average
occupancy rate of 80.1% for the fourth quarter of 2017.

•

Jinjiang Inn

CSI Hotels, Inc., a 50%-owned subsidiary of HOA, is the master franchisee of the
“Jinjiang Inn” brand in the Philippines. Jinjiang is a Chinese-based hotel operator
with one of the largest hotel portfolios in Asia. Through the master franchise
agreement, CSI Hotels, Inc. receives the right to operate the Jinjiang Inn brand in the
Philippines. The first Jinjiang Inn was opened on September 2015 and is located
along San Miguel Ave. in Ortigas. The hotel has a gross floor area of 4,726.4 sq. m.
on six floors. The hotel offers 95 rooms including five business suites, with a
dimension of 23 sq. m. to 56 sq. m., with known necessities to travelers. All rooms
are complete with 46” LCD TV, mini bar, in-room safe, laundry services, and an ensuite bathroom, complete with toiletries and bath robes. Its facilities include three
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meeting rooms, good for six to 14 persons, and a business kiosk. Its restaurant, Five
Spice Asian Bistro, serves Asian Fusion cuisines and services buffet breakfast, a la
carte lunch and dinner, and can also accept banquet functions for up to 50 persons.
The second Jinjiang Inn was opened in September 2016 and is located along Pasay
Road in Makati. The hotel has a gross floor area of 5,097.0 sq. m. across four floors.
The hotel offers 59 rooms, as well as a spacious and elegant lobby. In addition to
other modern conveniences, the hotel also has a business kiosk to help guests with
their online needs. All rooms are well-appointed with fixtures and amenities
comparable to deluxe class hotels. Located on the ground floor is the hotel’s Choi
Garden Seafood Restaurant, which serves authentic Chinese cuisines and uses quality
ingredients in its dishes.
Jinjiang Inn Ortigas and Jinjiang Inn Makati offer rooms at a rack rate of ₱3,000 and
₱5,100, for a combined average occupancy rate of 70.8% as of the fourth quarter of
2017.
The Company intends to expand its Jinjiang Inn hotels from both development of
Company-owned properties and through subfranchising thereof.
Injap Tower
Injap Tower is a 21-storey commercial and condotel tower located along West
Diversion Road in Iloilo City. Situated across from SM Iloilo, the tower is Iloilo’s
first high-rise building as well as the tallest building in the Western Visayas. Injap
Tower features two commercial units on the ground floor, multi-level parking, and
196 fully furnished condotel units. Amenities and facilities of the tower include a
swimming pool, 24-hour security, four elevators, several retail shops and the Horizon
Café on the top floor.
Injap Tower Hotel is likewise a condotel concept similar to Hotel101, where rooms
are sold to third party investors. The hotel is managed by Hotel101 Management
Corp, a wholly owned subsidiary of HOA, under a 25 year management contract
(with an option to extend for another 25 years).
Injap Tower Hotel opened in June 2014, with a gross floor area of 15,302.2 sq. m. It
has 21 floors with 194 rooms available. Injap Tower Hotel offers rooms at a rack rate
of ₱2,400 and had an average occupancy rate of 84.7% as of the fourth quarter of
2017.
Future Hotel Developments
The second Hotel101 branded hotel, located in Fort Bonifacio Global City, began
construction in 2017 and is expected to be completed in 2020. The Hotel101 Fort will
add 606 rooms to HOA’s portfolio and is expected to feature a three-level podium
with commercial areas on the ground and second floor levels reserved for specialty
retail shops and residents. The third level of the podium will house amenities such as
a gym, spa, infinity pool, conference rooms, all-day dining and lounges. Similar to
Hotel101 Manila, Hotel101 Fort will be a condotel concept, with units sold to third
party investors under condominium titles, and subject to a management and revenue
sharing agreement entered into with the Company or one of its Subsidiaries.
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Below is an artist’s depiction of Hotel101 Fort:

The Company also intends to expand its Hotel101 brand to Bohol and Davao, which
projects are expected to add 502, and 519, respectively, to HOA’s portfolio. The
Company has secured the sites for these projects, which are currently in the planning
and development stage.
On February 1, 2018, the Company announce that HOA entered into a joint venture
with Newcoast South Beach, Inc., for the development of Hotel101 Resort-Boracay
which will have 1,001 rooms and is expected to become the biggest hotel in the
Philippines in terms of room count. The project is expected to be located on a two
hectare beachfront property in Boracay Newcoast, a 150-hectare tourism estate owned
by publicy listed Megaworld Corporation’s subsidiary, Global-Estate Resorts, Inc.
The project will support environment-friendly operations, consistent with the
sustainability efforts and green initiatives of Boracay Newcoast which include of
electric jeepneys, solar-powered streetlamps, flood-free drainage systems,
implementation of its own waste segregation program, having its own material
recovery facility (“MRF”) for waste recycling and having its own sewage treatment
plant that converts used water to water for irrigation purposes and fire reserves.
Hotel101 Resort-Boracay will have amenities such as room suites with balconies,
expansive retail and food and beverage offerings, pool and outdoor deck, a business
center, meeting rooms and zfunction hall. The project will adopt sustainable best
practices from design to implementation and adopt sustainable practices to reduce and
reuse energy, waste and water. Specific areas of Hotel101 Resort-Boracay will also be
powered by solar panels and will be equipped with a rainwater harvesting system and
is expected to be a LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environment Design) certified
development. This new green eco- friendly project in Boracay will be the fourth
development under Hotel101 brand after similar groundbreaking undertakings in
Manila, Fort Taguig and Davao City.
Below are artist’s perspectives of the planned Hotel 101 developments (clockwise:
Hotel 101 Bohol, Hotel 101 Davao and Hotel101 Resort- Boracay):
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Further, the Company intends to develop Jinjiang Inn hotels in Boracay and Cagayan
de Oro, which are expected to add 95 and 106 rooms, respectively, to HOA’s
portfolio. The Company has secured the sites for these projects, which are currently in
the planning and development stage. Below is an artist’s perspective of Jinjiang Inn
Cagayan de Oro:

Title over the land where Hotel101 Fort will be constructed is registered in the name
of HOA while the registration of the transfer of the land for Hotel101 Davao is
currently being processed. The Hotel101 Davao site was acquired by HOA in August
2017.
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The sites for Hotel101 Bohol and Hotel101 Resort-Boracay are subject of two
Memorandum of Agreement executed by HOA in 2017. Ownership over the Hotel
101 Bohol site will be transferred upon delivery by HOA of the agreed consideration
to the landowner. The land where Hotel101 Resort-Boracay will be built will be
transferred to Newcoast South Beach Inc. (“NSI”) pursuant to its Contract to Sell with
Global-Estate Resorts, Inc. and Oceanfront Properties Inc,, and which will eventually
be the joint development vehicle that will develop a condominium building in
Boracay Newcoast, Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan. Under the agreement with HOA,
the shareholders of NSI will contribute the land for the Hotel101 Resort-Boracay
project while HOA shall infuse capital that will allow it to acquire 61.9% interest in
the NSI, with current NSI shareholders retaining 38.1%. NSI is in the process of
completing the payment for the site which must be completed within six months from
the execution of the agreement, or not later than April 10, 2018. In the event that NSI
fails to complete the payment with the said period, HOA shall have the option to pay
the balance needed for the full payment of the lots and the amount thus paid shall be
considered in the computation of its proportionate equity share in the company.
Competition
The Company’s hotels cater to the mid-end market, and compete with other three star
hotels operating within the areas where the Company currently operates such as the
Manila Bay Area, Makati City, and Ortigas Center.
INDUSTRIAL LEASING
The Company’s latest venture into the growing industrial leasing segment is through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Central Hub Industrial Centers Inc. The Company
currently has plans for development for eight sites strategically located across Luzon,
Visayas and Mindanao with a total of 100,000 sq. m. of leasable space by 2020:
Location
North Luzon
South Luzon
Visayas
Mindanao

Number of Sites
2
2
2
2

Company believes that its industrial centers will be the first branded modern
industrial centers in the Philippines and will contain standardized, multi-use, and
industrial quality warehouses suited for commissaries, cold storage and logistics
centers to be leased to locators nationwide. The Company believes that industrial
leasing presents a significant growth opportunity in the Philippines due to the lack of
such industrial support infrastructure in provincial areas. The Company believes that
it can leverage the fast food experience of its CEO and significant shareholders, as the
fast food industry leases from other parties its warehouses for commissary operations,
cold storages and logistics distribution centers. The Company also believes that such
industrial centers will be able to support the tenants of its CityMalls located in nearby
cities.
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In 2017, the Company, through CHICI, acquired a 6.2 hectare lot in the Luisita
Industrial Park in Tarlac for its first industrial hub. The Tarlac project is currently
being developed, and is expected to cover 32,000 sq. m. of industrial space built over
four phases. The Company has commenced construction of phase 1 which it expects
to complete by the first quarter of 2018. As of December 31, 2017, phase 1 of the
project was 12.94% complete. Phase 2 of the project is expected to commence within
the first half of 2018, while the commencement dates for phases 3 and 4 will depend
on tenant take-up. Each of phases 2 and 3 of the project shall consist of one structure
subdivided into four warehouses, while phase 4 will be subdivided into three
warehouses. The Company intends to complete the Tarlac project by 2020.
On February 14, 2018, the Company, through CHICI, acquired a 3.9 hetare property
in Iloilo, located along Iloilo R3 Road approximately five kilometers from the Iloiilo
International Airport and ten kilometers from the Iloilo City proper. The newly
acquired site is expected to be the Company’s second CentralHub complex in the
Philippines, following its Tarlac project which is currently under construction. Once
developed, CentralHub-Iloilo is expected to have a capacity of 22,000 sq.m. of
leasable space.
A conceptual illustration of an industrial center is provided below:

Leasing Policies
The Company’s industrial space tenancies are expected to be generally granted for a
term of five to ten years. For most of the Company’s tenants, 6 months’ notice will
be required for termination of their leases and a six-month deposit will be required to
be paid at the commencement of the lease. The Company’s leases are expected to be
on fixed annual rates, subject to annual escalation clauses. Upon expiry of the lease,
the rental rates are expected to be adjusted to reflect the prevailing market rent.
The Company will deliver leasable spaces in bare shell form to its tenants. The
Company’s tenants will be responsible for the fit-out of their respective leased spaces,
and will be required to return such spaces to the Company in bare shell at the end of
the lease term.
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Management and Marketing
The Company employs an in-house leasing and marketing team to find tenants for the
Company’s industrial spaces.
Services such as maintenance, engineering, janitorial and security services will be
outsourced by the Company to reputable third party service providers on an annual
contractual basis. These contracts can usually be terminated at any time, such as if the
contractor fails to perform at an acceptable level. The cost of such outsourced services
will be charged directly to tenants on a pro rata basis.
Competition
The Company does not believe that it has any competitors in the industrial center
leasing business as of the date this Annual Report.
INTERIM PROJECTS
The Company’s long term strategy is to earn a significant majority of its revenues
through recurring income from its leasing portfolio and hospitality operations.
However, the Company has strategically acquired existing projects that have been
pre-sold and partially completed by other developers in order to enhance the
Company’s profitability in the near-term and provide capital to develop its leasing
portfolio of properties. While the Company may continue to strategically acquire
such additional interim projects in the future on a case by case basis, the Company
will continue to shift its primary focus to acquiring, developing and operating leasable
properties in the future. The discussion below includes certain details on interim
projects undertaken by the Company.
The SkySuites Tower
The Company acquired The SkySuites Tower on September 1, 2014 from Rizal
Commercial Banking Corporation, the financial institution that foreclosed on the
property from its original developer four years prior to the Company’s acquisition.
The SkySuites Tower was planned as a 38-storey commercial, office and residential
tower sitting on a 2,812 sq. m. prime corner lot at the corner of EDSA and Quezon
Avenue, a few meters away from the Mass Rail Transit station.
The SkySuites Tower is divided into two structures with lobbies: the lower structure
is dedicated to corporate offices while the residential tower consists of lofts catering
to the mid to high-end market. The Company has continued both the construction and
sale of the remaining inventory of the residential units and parking, but intends to
retain the unsold commercial and office spaces as part of the Company’s leasable
portfolio.
Prior to the Company’s acquisition of the property, 690 of the 1,012 units in The
SkySuites Tower were already sold. As of December 31, 2017, the overall completion
of the project stands at 97.0%. The office structure of The SkySuites Tower was
completed and became available for occupancy in the fourth quarter 2017, while the
residential units are expected to be completed and turned over to buyers within the
fourth quarter of 2018. As of December 31, 2017, the total number of units sold is
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815, broken down into 780 residential units, 29 corporate units and six commercial
units. There have been 206 parking spaces sold, with an additional 273 spaces
remaining unsold.
W.H. Taft Residences
The Company’s first project in Metro Manila was the 31-storey W.H. Taft
Residences, a condominium development situated beside De La Salle University on
Taft Ave. in Manila. W.H. Taft Residences offers 533 low-density studios and one
bedroom residential units in a prime location to serve as a base for students from De
La Salle University, College of St. Benilde and St. Scholastica’s College, all of which
are within walking distance from the project. Residents of the project also enjoy a full
range of student-inspired features and amenities such as wireless internet connection,
a multi-purpose hall convertible into seminar, study, or focus group discussion areas,
a swimming pool, multi-level flood free podium parking, and commercial
establishments on the ground and second floors to cater to the day-to-day needs of its
residents. As of December 31, 2017, the commercial units of W.H. Taft Residences
have been completely sold, while 491 residential units have been sold, with 42
residential units remaining unsold.
The Uptown Place
The Uptown Place is a five-storey premium commercial and residential condominium
located along General Luna Street in Iloilo City. The building is across the street from
the University of the Philippines Iloilo and consists of 236 residential units, ranging
from 21 sq. m. studios to 73 sq. m. three bedroom units. The ground floor consists of
commercial units held for lease. The project construction was completed in March
2014. As of December 31, 2017, 178 residential units have been sold, while 58 units
remain available for sale.
FirstHomes
FirstHomes subdivision is the Company’s first horizontal housing project. Located in
Navais, Mandurriao, Iloilo City. FirstHomes is a gated townhouse project consisting
of 112 units within a 1.3 hectare property. FirstHomes offers semi-furnished two,
three and four bedroom units equipped with modern utilities and features modern
minimalist design and a wide range of amenities including swimming pools,
community parks, clubhouse and CCTV security systems. The project was completed
in October 2012 and, as of December 31, 2017, 99 units have been sold, with 13
remaining available for sale.
HappyHomes
HappyHomes-Mandurriao is a project of DD HappyHomes Residential Centers, Inc.,
a subsidiary of the Company. HappyHomes is an affordable community space
offering 613 lots for development in the fast growing Mandurriao district of Iloilo
City. HappyHomes offers four variations of units with varying house and lot
packages ranging from ₱1.2 million to ₱3.1 million. Each unit is built upon receipt of
a 10% down payment and can be turned over four to six months from start of
construction. As of December 31, 2017, the land development is 100% complete.
Construction is on a per-block basis and commences when at least 50% of the block
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has been sold. The construction period is approximately seven to eight months. As of
December 31, 2017, 382 units have been sold, while 246 remain available for sale.
Happy Homes-Tanauan is a new project of DDHH, Inc. that was acquired in 2015.
Located in Tanauan, Leyte, the project consists of 1,494 lots available for
development. Four variations of units with varying house and lot packages are
available, ranging from ₱0.450 million to ₱1.2 million. Land development works for
phase 1 began on April 21, 2016. Similar to Happy Homes-Mandurriao, construction
is on a per-block basis and commences when at least 50% of the block has been sold
and the construction period is approximately seven to eight months. As of December
31, 2017, 180 units have been sold, while 1,314 remain available for sale.
Buyers of units in Happy Homes-Mandurriao and Happy Homes-Tanauan may avail
of financing schemes offered by the Home Development Mutual Fund as well as
accredited banks.
Marketing and Sales
The Company employs an in-house sales department of six people to find purchasers
of units in the Company’s interim projects. The Company also has two sales
executive officers who are paid on a commission basis, and twenty four agents under
such officers.
SUPPLIERS
The Company has a broad base of suppliers for materials and services and is not
dependent on any one supplier for its construction and development activities. The
Company believes there is no scarcity for the Company’s raw materials and they may
be easily sourced in the market, and therefore the Company is not, nor is it expected
to be, dependent upon one or a limited number of suppliers for its essential raw
materials or any other items. The Company’s principal raw materials are steel and
cement, which are readily available in the market from a number of sources. Contracts
between the Company and its contractors or suppliers contain warranties for quality
and requirements for timely completion. In the event of delay or poor quality of work,
the contractor or supplier may be liable to pay the Company a penalty. The Company
has not had any material disputes with any of its contractors or suppliers. The
Company uses a standard form fixed-price turnkey contract for both its general and
specialty construction contractors. The contracts typically include the following key
terms: a down payment of 10%-15% is required from the contractor and is usually
obtained in the form of a performance bond; progressive billing occurs on a monthly
basis; and a 10% retention and warranty provision for workmanship is included and is
typically covered by a guarantee bond.
The Company also outsources certain services for its CityMalls and hotels, such as
housekeeping, janitorial, maintenance, and security services, to reputable third-party
service provides on an annual contractual basis. These contracts can usually be
terminated at any time, such as if the contractor fails to perform at an acceptable level.
The following table lists the Company’s key suppliers and the products and services
supplied to the Company in connection with its construction and development
activities.
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Supplier
Megawide Construction Corporation
EEI Corporation
Art Builders Construction and Management, Inc.
Bon Builders Corporation
Bueno Builders and Management Corporation
Rapid Steel Corporation
Monolith Construction & Development Corporation
Brickwall Construction Corp.
N1 Phil Builders Corp.
Sta. Elena Construction & Development Corporation
V.V Aldaba Inc
Lion Heart Security Agency
Unified Forces Security
Wizard Manpower and Allied Services
Jolly Management Solutions, Inc.

Products/Services
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction
Piling Works
Electrical Works
Security Services
Security Services
Manpower
Manpower

EMPLOYEES
As of December 31, 2017, the Company and its Subsidiaries have a total of 568
employees. This is broken down as follows:
Company Name
DoubleDragon Properties Corp.
DoubleDragon Sales Corp.
DoubleDragon Property Management Corp.
DD HappyHomes Residential Centers Inc.
Hotel of Asia, Inc. (“HOA”)
CityMall Commercial Centers Inc. (“CMCCI”)
Piccadilly Circus Landing, Inc

Total Employees
239
12
135
10
95
64
13

The Company has no collective bargaining agreements with its employees due to the
absence of organized labor organizations in the Company. Aside from complying
with the minimum compensation standards mandated by law, the Company makes
available to qualified personnel supplemental benefits such as health insurance, car
plans and bonuses. The Company has not experienced any disruptive labor disputes,
strikes or threats of strikes, and management believes that the Company’s relationship
with its employee in general is satisfactory. The Company intends to hire
approximately 126 additional employees in the next 12 months.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
The operations of the Company are not dependent on any copyright, patent,
trademark, license, franchise, concession or royalty agreement. The Company and its
Subsidiaries have registered the following trademarks with the Intellectual Property
Office:
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Trademark
1

Type

Registrant

Filing Registratio
Date
n date
May 3, November
2016
17, 2016

DD DOUBLE
DRAGON
PROPERTIES
CORP. MAKING
GREAT THINGS
HAPPEN FOR
YOU
DOUBLEDRAG
ON
PROPERTIES
CORP.

DoubleDrag
on Properties
Corp.

3

DD

DoubleDrag Octobe
on Properties
r 29,
Corp.
2012

May 30,
2013

4

DOUBLEDRAG
ON

DoubleDrag Octobe
on Properties
r 29,
Corp.
2012

May 30,
2013

5

CITYMALL
YOUR
EVERYDAY
MALL!

CityMall
Commercial
Centers Inc.

May 3,
2016

March 24,
2017

6

CITYMALL SEE
YOU
EVERYDAY!

DoubleDrag Octobe
on Properties
r 30,
Corp.
2013

August 21,
2014

7

CITYMALL

DoubleDrag Octobe
on Properties
r 30,
Corp.
2013

August 21,
2014

8

DOUBLEDRAG
ON PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT
CORP.

DoubleDrag
on Properties
Corp.

November
17, 2016

9

DRAGON8
MALL THE
NEWEST MALL
IN DIVISORIA

DoubleDrag Octobe
on Properties
r 30,
Corp.
2015

2

DoubleDrag
on Properties
Corp.

May 3,
2016

May 3,
2016

November
17, 2016

April 29,
2016
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1
0

WH TAFT
RESIDENCES

DoubleDrag Octobe
on Properties
r 30,
Corp.
2015

January 21,
2016

The Company also has applied for the registration of the following trademarks:
Trademark

Type

Applicant

Filing
Date
28 July
2017

1

DOUBLEDRAGON
PLAZA

DD - Meridian
Park Development
Corp.

2

INJAP TOWER
HOTEL

DoubleDragon
Properties Corp.

22 May
2015

3

D8 MALL

DoubleDragon
Properties Corp.

15
February
2017

These trademarks are important in the aggregate because name recognition and
exclusivity of use are contributing factors to the success of the Company’s
developments. In the Philippines, certificates of registration of a trademark filed with
the Philippine Intellectual Property Office are generally effective for a period of 10
years, unless terminated earlier.
HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
The Company regards occupational health and safety as one of its most important
corporate and social responsibilities and it is the Company’s corporate policy to
comply with existing environmental laws and regulations. The Company maintains
various environmental protection systems and conducts regular trainings on
environment, health and safety. As discussed above, the Company spends significant
time and resources on being a leader in sustainable development.
INSURANCE
The Company obtains and maintains appropriate insurance coverage on its properties,
assets and operations in such amounts and covering such risks as the Company
believes are usually carried by companies engaged in similar businesses and using
similar properties in the same geographical areas as those in which the Company
operates. The Company maintains insurance policies, including policies with Malayan
Insurance Company, Incorporated and PGA Sompo Insurance Corp. through the
Company’s insurance broker Marsh Philippines, Inc., covering the following risks:
business interruption, comprehensive general liability, personal accident insurance for
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directors and officers, fire and lightning, bush fire and spontaneous combustion;
windstorm, storm, typhoon, flood, tidal wave and tsunami; water damage caused by
overflowing or bursting of water tanks, pipes or other apparatus, sprinkler and related
firefighting apparatus leakage; explosion, falling aircraft and article therefrom, impact
by road vehicles and smoke; earthquake shock and earthquake fire; volcanic eruption;
subsidence, collapse and landslide; riot and strike, civil commotion and malicious
acts; electrical injury; sparkler and related firefighting apparatus leakage; robbery and
burglary; mechanical or electrical derangement failure or breakdown or boiler
explosion; extra expense / standard charges; and third-party bodily injury and
property damage.

ITEM 2. Properties
The locations and descriptions of the Company’s investment properties as of
December 31, 2017 are shown below:
Project Name
CityMall Roxas-Arnaldo
CityMall Consolacion
CityMall Anabu
CityMall Tetuan
CityMall Tagbak
CityMall Kalibo
CityMall Tiaong
CityMall Parola
CityMall Cotabato

Location
Arnaldo Avenue, Baybay, Roxas City
Sta. Lucia Town Square, Cansaga, Consolacion, Cebu City
Aguinaldo Highway, Anabu, Imus, Cavite
Don Alfaro Street, Tetuan, Zamboanga City
Tagbak, Jaro Iloilo
F. Quimpo Street, Kalibo, Aklan
Maharlika Highway, Lalig, Tiaong, Quezon
Fort San Pedro Drive, Parola Wharf, Concepcion, Iloilo City
Governor Gutierrez Avenue, Rosario Heights VII, Cotabato City

CityMall Mandalagan
CityMall Kabankalan

Lacson Street corner G.M. Cordova Avenue, Mandalagan,
Bacolod City
Justice Perez Highway, Talubangi, Kabankalan City

CityMall Victorias

Osmeña Avenue, Victorias City, Negros Occidental

CityMall San Carlos

Azcona Street corner CL Ledesma Avenue, Poblacion, San
Carlos City, Negros Occidental
Maharlika Highway corner Lapu-Lapu Extension, Magugpo,
Tagum City
Station 1, Balabag, Boracay
Santiago, Concepcion, Tarlac, SCTEX Southbound
Goldenfields Commercial Complex, Araneta St., Brgy.
Singcang-Airport, Bacolod City, Negros Occidental
McArthur Highway, Brgy. San Rafael, Tarlac City, Tarlac
Veterans Avenue National Highway, Brgy. Daro, Dumaguete
City, Negros Oriental
Dau Access Road, Dau, Mabalacat, Pampanga
Poblacion, Passi, Iloilo City
Pan-Philippine Highway, Poblacion, Sta. Rosa, Nueva Ecija
Danao, Cebu City
Manila South Rd., Brgy. Halang, Calamba, Laguna
Lacson St., Brgy. Morales, Koronadal City, South Cotabato
Filomena, Dipolog, Zamboanga
Calasiao - Dagupan Road, Brgy. Mayombo, Dagupan

CityMall Tagum
CityMall Boracay
CityMall SCTEX
CityMall Goldenfields
CityMall Tarlac
CityMall Dumaguete
CityMall Dau
CityMall Passi
CityMall Sta. Rosa NE
CityMall Danao
CityMall Calamba
CityMall Koronadal
CityMall Dipolog
CityMall Mayombo
Dagupan
CityMall Bulua
CityMall Iponan
CityMall Ozamiz
CityMall Tuguegarao
CityMall Isulan
CityMall San Carlos,
Pangasinan
CityMall Cadiz
CityMall Lam-an

Bulua, Cagayan de Oro City
Claro M. Recto Avenue, Iponan, Cagayan de Oro City
Catadman, Ozamiz
Pan-Philippine Highway, Brgy. Leonarda (formerly Brgy.
Pengue Ruyu), Tuguegarao City, Cagayan
Isulan-Tacurong City Road, Brgy. Poblacion, Isulan, Sultan
Kudarat
Burgos St. cor. Posadas St. and Roxas Boulevard, Brgy.
Poblacion, San Carlos City, Pangasinan
Villena St., Brgy. Poblacion, Cadiz City, Negros Occidental
Lam-an, Ozamiz City

42

CityMall San Enrique
CityMall Bongabon
CityMall Dinalupihan
CityMall Ormoc
DD Meridian Park
Jollibee Tower
Dragon8 Mall*
The SkySuites Tower
W.H. Taft
Injap Tower
The Uptown Place
Umbria Commercial Center
Happy Homes Tanuan
Hotel 101 Manila
Hotel 101 Fort
CentralHub - Tarlac
Jinjiang Inn- Ortigas

San Enrique, Negros
Bongabon, Nueva Ecija
Tabacan, Dinalupihan, Bataan
Brgy. Cogon, Ormoc City, Leyte
Corners Roxas Blvd., EDSA and Macapagal Avenue, Pasay
City
Oranbo, Pasig City
C.M. Recto and Dagupan Sts., Manila
Corner EDSA Quezon Ave,
Quezon City
Taft Avenue, Manila
West Diversion Road, Iloilo City
General Luna Street, Iloilo City
Binan, Laguna
Tanuan, Leyte
Bay Area, Near Mall of Asia
Fort Bonifacio, Taguig
Luisita Industrial Park, Tarlac
San Miguel Ave., Ortigas

The Company and its subsidiaries’ investment properties are stated at fair value,
which has been determined based on valuations performed by an accredited
independent appraiser. The fair values of the investment properties were arrived at
using the market data approach for land and cost or income approach for buildings.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company has acquired the following properties for the
development of CityMalls:
Location*

Lot Area
(in sq. m.)

1
2
3
4
5
6

CM Dagupan
CM Kalibo
CM Consolacion-Cebu
CM Cotabato
CM Sta. Rosa-Nueva Ecija
CM Victorias-Negros

12,817
13,530
10,251
15,000
19,516
13,734

7

CM San Carlos-Negros

9,387

8

CM Koronadal-Cotabato

10,000

9
10
11

CM Bulua-CDO
CM Iponan-CDO
CM Isulan

11,464
11,957
9,247

12

CM Surigao

10,505

13
14

CM Manabay-Ozamis
CM Antique

22,262
15,298

15

CM Calapan

7,159

16
17
18
19

CM Pagadian
CM Calamba
CM Ozamis-Lam-An
CM San Enrique

23,317
10,309
6,023
13,991

20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31

CM Baler, Aurora
CM Ormoc, Leyte
CM Sorsogon
CM San Carlos, Pangasinan
CM Palo, Leyte
CM Cadiz City, Negros Occidental
CM Tuguegarao
CM General Trias
CM Tagbilaran, Bohol
CM Bongabon, Nueva Ecija
CM Aparri, Cagayan
CM Los Banos, Laguna

7,217
20,732
5,869
6,597
20,000
10,142
16,525
19,659
7,583
11,025
7,198
24,273
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32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39

CM Basilan
CM Lucena
CM Guimaras
CM Dinalupihan
CM Balibago Sta. Rosa
CM Bais
CM La Carlota
CM Ormoc

8,692
23,510
8,405
20,000
15,000
16,944
17,439
20,732

Joint Ventures
The Company has also entered into joint venture agreements with various landowners
for the development of CityMalls on their respective properties. Typically, CMCCI
will own 70% of the joint venture company in exchange for the development of the
CityMall while the original landowner will retain thirty 30% ownership in the joint
venture company in exchange for the value of the land infused.
The CityMall locations that are currently being developed under the joint venture
structure are as follows:
Lot Area
(in sq. m.)

Location
1

CM Mandalagan-Bacolod

10,000

2

CM Goldenfields-Bacolod

10,940

3

CM Tetuan-Zamboanga*

15,344

4

CM Guiwan-Zamboanga

13,642

5

CM Macarthur-Tarlac

20,000

6

CM Roxas Avenue

4,680

7

CM Danao-Cebu

5,700

8

CM Dipolog-Zamboanga

12,862

9

CM-Northtown Davao

15,605

10

CM-Bocaue

10,085

Long Term Lease
The Company, through CMCCI, also leases various properties for the development of
CityMalls. The leases have a tenor of 23 years or more. The locations and areas of the
said leased properties are as follows:
Location

Lot Area (in sq. m.)

1

CM Passi-Iloilo

8,588

2

CM Dumaguete*

13,361

3

CM Ungka, Pavia-Iloilo

12,000

4

CM Tagum

19,384

5

CM Roxas-Arnaldo

10,000

6

CM Imus Cavite

20,943

7

CM Tagbak Jaro-Iloilo**

5,500

8

CM Bacalso-Cebu

11,000

9

CM Boracay

10,000

10

CM Dau-Pampanga

5,181
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11

CM Tiaong-Quezon

8,000

12

CM SCTEX-Tarlac

17,453

13

CM Parola-Iloilo

12,734

14

CM Kabankalan

15,000

Contracts of Lease for Office Space
The Company leases its corporate office space at DoubleDragon Plaza, DD Meridian
Park in the Manila Bay area. The office is leased by DD from DDPMC.
The Company leases office and parking spaces and showrooms. The terms of the
lease are for periods ranging from one to five years, renewable for the same period
under the same terms and conditions. Generally, the rent under such leases shall
escalate by an average of 5% to 10% each year.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are involved in, or the subject of, any
legal proceedings which, if determined adversely to the Company or the relevant
subsidiary’s interests, would have a material effect on the business or financial
position of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
The Company is not involved in any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings.
Neither is it aware of any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings involving
any of its Subsidiaries.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
1. Approval of the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and the 2016 Annual
Report
Date of Approval by Board of Directors
Date of Approval by Stockholders

: April 12, 2017
: August 30, 2017

2. Ratification of the Actions of the Board of Directors and Officers
Date of Approval by Stockholders

: August 30, 2017

3. Election of Directors
Date of Approval by Stockholders

: August 30, 2017

4. Appointment of External Auditors
Date of Approval by Stockholders

: August 30, 2017

5. Approval of Follow on Offering Plan
Date of Approval by Board of Directors
Date of Approval by Stockholders

: August 07, 2017
: August 30, 2017
45

PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related
Stockholders Matters
Market Information
The Company’s Common Shares and Preferred Share are traded on the PSE and were
listed on April 7, 2014 and July 26, 2016, respectively. The tables below set forth the
market prices of the Common Shares and Preferred Shares in 2015, 2016 and 2017.
Common Shares
Period

2015
High

2016
Low

High

2017
Low

High

Low

1st
Quarter

₱9.00

₱7.26

₱39.50

₱20.00

₱55.50

₱39.50

2nd
Quarter

₱10.50

₱8.50

₱70.00

₱36.25

₱54.50

₱46.50

3rd
Quarter

₱22.60

₱9.70

₱63.50

₱53.70

₱48.85

₱39.85

4th
Quarter

₱25.35

₱19.60

₱58.30

₱36.00

₱44.00

₱36.00

Preferred Shares
Period

2015
High

2016
Low

1st
Quarter

-

2nd
Quarter

-

3rd
Quarter

-

4th
Quarter

-

High

2017
Low

High

Low

-

-

₱106.50

₱103.50

-

-

₱106.00

₱103.00

₱106.30

₱103.40

₱106.60

₱104.60

₱105.00

₱103.20

₱107.40

₱104.20

-
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As of February 6, 2018, the closing price of the Company's common shares was
₱37.50 per share with a total market capitalization of ₱83,614,875,000 while the
closing price of the Company's preferred shares was ₱104.00 per share.

Dividends and Dividends Policy
Under Philippine law, dividends may be declared out of a corporation’s Unrestricted
Retained Earnings which shall be payable in cash, in property, or in stock to all
stockholders on the basis of outstanding stock held by them. The amount of retained
earnings available for declaration as dividends may be determined pursuant to
regulations issued by the Philippine SEC. The approval of the Board of Directors is
generally sufficient to approve the distribution of dividends, except in the case of
stock dividends which requires the approval of stockholders representing not less than
two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting duly called
for the purpose. From time to time, the Company may reallocate capital among its
Subsidiaries depending on its business requirements.
The Philippine Corporation Code prohibits stock corporations from retaining surplus
profits in excess of 100% of their paid-in capital stock, except when justified by
definite corporate expansion projects or programs approved by the Board of
Directors, or when the corporation is prohibited under any loan agreement with any
financial institution or creditor from declaring dividend without its consent, and such
consent has not yet been secured, or when it can be clearly shown that such retention
is necessary under special circumstances obtaining in the corporation.
Limitations and Requirements
Under Philippine law, a corporation can only declare dividends to the extent that it
has Unrestricted Retained Earnings that represent the undistributed earnings of the
corporation which have not been allocated for any managerial, contractual or legal
purpose and which are free for distribution to the shareholders as dividends. A
corporation may pay dividends in cash, by the distribution of property or by the
issuance of shares. Stock dividends may only be declared and paid with the approval
of shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock of the
corporation voting at a shareholders’ meeting duly called for the purpose.
The Philippine Corporation Code generally requires a Philippine corporation with
retained earnings in excess of 100% of its paid-in capital to declare and distribute as
dividends the amount of such surplus. Notwithstanding this general requirement, a
Philippine corporation may retain all or any portion of such surplus in the following
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cases: (i) when justified by definite expansion plans approved by the board of
directors of the corporation; (ii) when the required consent of any financing institution
or creditor to such distribution has not been secured; (iii) when retention is necessary
under special circumstances, such as when there is a need for special reserves for
probably contingencies; or (iv) when the non-distribution of dividends is consistent
with the policy or requirement of a Government office.
The Company has entered into several long-term loan agreements which do not
permit the declaration of dividends, if as a result thereof, the Company would breach
its financial covenants or an event of default would occur. The Company’s long-term
loan agreements require the Company to maintain a debt-to-equity ratio of not more
than 2.33x and a debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.25x. Further, the
documentation relating to the Company’s ₱9.7 billion 6.0952% bonds due 2024 and
₱5.3 billion 5.9721% bonds due 2026 require the Company to maintain a debt-toequity ratio of not more than 2.33x and a debt service coverage ratio of not less than
1.00x.
Record Date
Pursuant to existing Philippine SEC rules, cash dividends declared by the Company
must have a record date not less than 10 nor more than 30 days from the date of
declaration. For stock dividends, the record date should not be less than 10 nor more
than 30 days from the date of the shareholders’ approval, provided however, that the
set record date is not to be less than 10 trading days from receipt by the PSE of the
notice of declaration of stock dividend. In the event that a stock dividend is declared
in connection with an increase in authorized capital stock, the corresponding record
date is to be fixed by the Philippine SEC.
Dividend History
On April 10, 2013 the Board of Directors in a special meeting declared cash dividends
to common shareholders in the amount of ₱92.7 million to all common stockholders
of record as of April 10, 2013 and the same was paid in June 2013. On June 25, 2015
the Board of Directors in a regular meeting declared cash dividends to common
shareholders equivalent to 20% of its net income for the year ended December 31,
2014 amounting to ₱111.5 million or ₱0.05 per Common Share to all common
shareholders of record as of July 13, 2015. The payment date for such dividend was
on July 27, 2015.
For holders of Preferred Shares, the Board of Directors approved on June 23, 2016, a
special cash dividend, in the amount of ₱0.0867 per Preferred Share. On July 14,
2016, the special cash dividend was paid to all shareholders holding Preferred Shares
of record as of July 8, 2016. This declaration of such special cash dividend was in
addition to the regular dividend of 6.4778% per annum that holders of Preferred
Shares are entitled to (subject to the availability of sufficient Unrestricted Retained
Earnings). The Company has declared the following regular dividends for holders of
Preferred Shares:
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Date of Approval of
Board of Directors
June 23, 2016
September 20, 2016
December 8, 2016
March 21, 2017
June 21, 2017
September 27, 2017
December 6, 2017

Amount of Dividends
Approved Per Preferred
Share
₱1.619
₱1.6199
₱1.61945
₱1.61945
₱1.61945
₱1.61945
₱1.61945

Date of Payment
July 14, 2016
October 14, 2016
January 14, 2017
April 17, 2017
July 14, 2017
October 16, 2017
January 15, 2018

Dividend Policy
The Company’s current dividend policy provides that at least 30% of the preceding
fiscal year’s net income after tax will be declared as dividends, subject to (i) the
availability of Unrestricted Retained Earnings, (ii) implementation of business plans,
(iii) contractual obligations, and (iv) working capital requirements. There can be no
guarantee that the Company will pay any dividends in the future. The declaration and
payment of dividends is subject to compliance annually or as often as the Board of
Directors may deem appropriate, in cash or in kind and/or in additional shares from its
surplus profits. The ability of the Company to pay dividends will depend on its
retained earnings level and financial condition. There is no assurance that the
Company will pay dividends in the future.
Each of the Subsidiaries intend to approve a dividend policy that would entitle its
stockholders to receive dividends equivalent to 30% to 100% of the prior year’s net
income after tax subject to (i) the availability of Unrestricted Retained Earnings, (ii)
implementation of business plans, (iii) contractual obligations, and (iv) working
capital requirements. None of the Subsidiaries have declared dividends in the past.
On April 14, 2016, the Company issued 100,000,000 Preferred Shares with a par
value and issue price of ₱100 per share at an initial dividend rate of 6.4778% per
annum. Unless the Preferred Shares shall have been redeemed by the Company on the
seventh anniversary from the issue date thereof, the dividend rate shall be adjusted to
the higher of: a) the initial dividend rate, or b) the 10-year PDST-R2 plus a step up
spread equivalent to the initial spread plus 150bps.
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Principal Shareholders
Common Shares
The following table sets forth the 20 largest shareholders of the Company’s Common
Shares as of December 31, 2017.
Shareholder

Injap Investments Inc. ..............................................................
Honeystar Holdings Corp. .......................................................
PCD Nominee Corporation ......................................................
PCD Nominee Corporation ......................................................
John Michael Alerta Javelosa ..................................................
Consuelo A. Tiope ...................................................................
Charles Anthony M. Dumancas ...............................................
Michelle Marie C. Ang ............................................................
Katherine T. Bocala .................................................................
Michelle Marie C. Ang ............................................................
Ricardo G. Tiutan.....................................................................
Inocencio G. Huyong, Jr. .........................................................
Kenneth Sio Tan ......................................................................
Perry Arthur B. Juridico ...........................................................
Evelyn W. Tan .........................................................................
Maria Ephie Angela Gicaro Sa-Onoy ......................................
Albert S. Tan ............................................................................
Jermaine M. Dulaca .................................................................
Jeremiah R. Presnedi ................................................................
Jedidah R. Presnedi ..................................................................

Number of Shares
Subscribed

% of
Ownership

824,996,999
824,996,999
287,939,010
286,678,540
1,000,000
500,000
400,000
251,100
200,000
200,000
150,000
150,000
125,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
87,000
87,000

37.00%
37.00%
12.91%
12.86%
0.04%
0.02%
0.02%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

Preferred Shares
The following table sets forth the 20 largest shareholders of the Company’s Preferred
Shares as of December 31, 2017.
Shareholder

PCD Nominee Corporation ......................................................
PCD Nominee Corporation ......................................................
Andre Jonathan L. Ng ..............................................................
Fraternal Association of Knights of Columbus .......................
Meraldo Employees Savings and Loan Association ................
Fraternal Association of Knights of Columbus .......................
Judy O. Tan ..............................................................................
Josefina Gutierrez Castillo or Cynthia Gutierrez .....................
Ben Tiuk Sy or Judy Yu Sy .....................................................
John P. Barcelona.....................................................................
Foundation for Resource Linkage and Development ..............
Ernet Lim Pardinas ..................................................................
Republic Glass Holding Corp. .................................................
Chiong Ping G. Ching and/or Maria Gracia J. .........................
Sota Philippines, Inc. ...............................................................
William O. Dizon or Susan A. Dizon ......................................
Ching Bun Tient Tiu and/or Ching Chiong Ping .....................
Aguinaldo A. Andrada or Mira Grace Q. Andrada ..................
Chandru Tolaram Budhrani or Avinash Chandru ....................
Reynaldo G. Alehandro ...........................................................

Number of Shares
Subscribed

97,287,130
639,750
550,000
426,900
250,000
68,700
55,500
55,000
50,000
37,500
35,000
32,700
25,100
25,000
25,000
25,000
25,000
21,600
21,000
20,000

% of
Ownership

97.29%
0.64%
0.55%
0.43%
0.25%
0.07%
0.06%
0.06%
0.05%
0.04%
0.04%
0.03%
0.03%
0.03%
0.03%
0.03%
0.03%
0.02%
0.02%
0.02%
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ITEM 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation
Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
RESULTS OF OPERATION
YTD
DOUBLEDRAGON PROPERTIES CORP.
(Formerly Injap Land Corporation)
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended December 31

2017
REVENUES
Rent income
Real estate sales
Leasehold rights’ sales
Hotel revenues
Unrealized gains from changes in fair values of investment property
Interest income
Income from forfeitures
Others
COST AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sales
Cost of hotel operations
Cost of leasehold rights
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Interest expense
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
NET INCOME
ITEMS THAT WILL NEER BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT
OR LOSS
Remeasurement gain (loss) on defined benefit liability
Deferred tax effect on remeasurement loss on defined benefit liability
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME-Net of tax
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest

2016

Horizontal Analysis
Increase (Decrease)

Vertical Analysis
2017
2016

909,151,356
819,540,458
21,606,591
397,493,744
4,174,511,063
127,967,791
12,091,903
149,549,862
6,611,912,768

268,667,585
931,925,450
292,660,122
78,894,545
1,830,049,768
119,292,042
12,672,533
177,553,903
3,711,715,948

640,483,771
(112,384,992)
(271,053,531)
318,599,199
2,344,461,295
8,675,749
(580,630)
(28,004,041)
2,900,196,820

238.4%
-12.1%
-92.6%
403.8%
128.1%
7.3%
-4.6%
-15.8%
78.1%

13.8%
12.4%
0.3%
6.0%
63.1%
1.9%
0.2%
2.3%
100.0%

7.2%
25.1%
7.9%
2.1%
49.3%
3.2%
0.3%
4.8%
100.0%

362,236,122
275,541,313
4,133,652
197,361,259
1,093,894,942
643,825,886
2,576,993,174
4,034,919,594
1,508,559,759
2,526,359,835

495,763,585
61,006,174
21,913,753
172,663,800
725,452,401
330,238,308
1,807,038,021
1,904,677,927
434,369,406
1,470,308,521

(133,527,463)
214,535,139
(17,780,101)
24,697,459
368,442,541
313,587,578
769,955,153
2,130,241,667
1,074,190,353
1,056,051,314

-26.9%
351.7%
-81.1%
14.3%
50.8%
95.0%
42.6%
111.8%
247.3%
71.8%

5.5%
4.2%
0.1%
3.0%
16.5%
9.7%
39.0%
61.0%
22.8%
38.2%

13.4%
1.6%
0.6%
4.7%
19.5%
8.9%
48.7%
51.3%
11.7%
39.6%

6,398,071
(1,919,421)
4,478,650
2,530,838,485

1,470,308,521

6,398,071
(1,919,421)
4,478,650
1,060,529,964

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
72.1%

0.1%
0.0%
0.1%
38.3%

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
39.6%

1,646,013,940
884,824,545
2,530,838,485

1,079,113,320
391,195,201
1,470,308,521

566,900,620
493,629,344
1,060,529,964

52.5%
126.2%
72.1%

24.9%
13.4%
38.3%

29.1%
10.5%
39.6%

Revenues
Consolidated revenues increased by ₱2.9 billion, or 78.1%, to ₱6.6 billion
(U.S.$132.4 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to ₱3.7 billion
for the year ended December 31, 2016. This growth was primarily due to the
Company’s recognition of ₱4.2 billion (U.S.$83.6 million) in revenue from unrealized
gains from changes in fair value of investment properties for the year ended
December 31, 2017, an increase of ₱2.3 billion, or 128.1%, from ₱1.8 billion booked
in 2016 as a result of increase in the fair value of investment properties primarily
driven by the substantial completion (subject to certain punch list items) of the first
phase of DD Meridian Park in 2017. As a result of such substantial completion, the
property was stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations on
the property’s leasable space, performed by an accredited independent appraiser.
The Company’s revenues from rental income and hotel operations also contributed to
the overall growth in revenue. Rental income increased by ₱640.5 million, or 238.4%,
to ₱909.2 million (U.S.$18.2 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017
compared to ₱268.7 million in 2016, driven by the increase in the Company’s
operational CityMalls (i.e., 25 operational CityMalls as of December 31, 2017 as
compared to ten as of December 31, 2016). The Company’s hotel revenues also
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increased by ₱318.6 million or 403.8% to ₱397.5 million (U.S.$8.0 million) for the
year ended December 31, 2017, compared to ₱78.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016, due to the full year recognition of revenues from Hotel of Asia,
Inc. which was acquired in October 2016, and the first full year of operations of Hotel
101 Manila, which was completed in October 2016.
The growth in revenues was offset by the decrease in the Company’s real estate sales
by ₱112.4 million, or 12.1%, to ₱819.5 million (U.S.$16.4 million) for the year ended
December 31, 2017 compared to ₱931.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2016, due to the sale of Hotel 101 units in 2016 and recognition of prior Hotel 101
units sold upon the completion of the acquisition of Hotel of Asia, Inc. in October
2016. Leasehold rights’ sales likewise decreased by ₱271.1 million, or 92.6%, to
₱21.6 million (U.S.$0.4 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
₱292.7 million in 2016, as a result of all leasehold rights in the ground floor of
Dragon8 Mall being completely sold, and the Company’s decision to lease out the
remaining units in Dragon8 Mall as investment properties instead of selling the
leasehold rights pertaining thereto.
The Company’s interest income for the year ended December 31, 2017 also increased
by ₱8.7 million or, 7.3%, to ₱128.0 million (U.S.$2.6 million), compared to ₱119.3
million in 2016, primarily as a result of the increase in the Company’s deposit
placements with financial institutions.
Other income from forfeiture also decreased by ₱0.6 million, or 4.6%, to ₱12.1
million (U.S.$0.2 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to ₱12.7
million in 2016. The growth in consolidated revenues was also partially offset by the
decrease in other income by ₱28.0 million, or 15.8%, to ₱149.5 million (U.S.$3.0
million) for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to ₱177.5 million in 2016.
Cost and expenses
The Company’s consolidated costs and expenses grew by ₱769.9 million, or 42.6%,
to ₱2.6 billion (U.S.$52.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared
to ₱1.8 billion in 2016, mainly driven by the increase in the Company’s cost of hotel
operations, interest expense and general and administrative expenses.
The Company also booked cost of hotel operations of ₱275.5 million (U.S.$5.5
million) for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of ₱214.5 million or
351.7% compared to ₱61.0 million for the year ended December 2016, because of the
full year operations of its new subsidiary, Hotel of Asia, Inc., and Hotel 101 Manila,
in 2017.
Interest expense increased by ₱313.6 million, or 95.0%, to ₱643.8 million (U.S.$12.9
million) for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to ₱330.2 million in 2016,
primarily as a result of the interest due on the Company’s ₱9.7 billion 6.0952% bonds
due 2024 which were issued in July 2017 and ₱5.3 billion 5.9721% bonds due 2026 in
December 2016.
The Company’s general and administrative expenses increased by ₱368.4 million, or
50.8%, to ₱1.1 billion (U.S.$21.9 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017
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compared to ₱725.5 million in 2016, primarily due to the increase in number of
operational CityMalls, which resulted in the growth in personnel cost, electricity and
water charges, business taxes and licenses, depreciation, rental cost, professional fees
and repairs and maintenance. The Company’s selling and marketing expenses also
increased by ₱24.7 million, or 14.3%, to ₱197.4 million (U.S.$4.0 million) for the
year ended December 31, 2017 compared to ₱172.7 million in 2016, due to increased
advertising and marketing efforts relating to the Company’s hospitality operations and
new operational CityMalls.
The Company’s cost of real estate sales decreased by ₱133.5 million, or 26.9%, to
₱362.2 million (U.S.$7.3 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
₱495.8 million in 2016, due to the decrease in real estate units sold for the year. The
Company’s cost of leasehold rights also decreased by ₱17.8 million, or 81.1%, to
₱4.1 million (U.S.$0.1 million) for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
₱21.9 million in 2016, also due to the corresponding decrease in leasehold rights’
sales in 2017.
Income before income tax
The Company’s consolidated income before income tax for the year ended December
31, 2017 was ₱4.0 billion (U.S.$80.7 million), an increase of ₱2.1 billion or, 111.8%,
from its consolidated income before income tax of ₱1.9 billion recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2016.
Income tax expense
The Company’s income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 was ₱1.5
billion (U.S.$30.2 million), an increase of ₱1.1 billion, or 247.3%, from its income
tax expense of ₱434.4 million recorded for the year ended December 31, 2016,
primarily due to the deferred tax of ₱1.5 billion recognized as a result of the ₱4.2
billion unrealized gains from change in fair values of investment property booked in
2017.
Net Income
As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s consolidated net income for the year
ended December 31, 2017 was ₱2.5 billion (U.S.$50.6 million), an increase of ₱1.1
billion, or 71.8%, from its consolidated net income of ₱1.5 billion recorded for the
year ended December 31, 2016.
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FINANCIAL POSITION
DOUBLEDRAGON PROPERTIES CORP.
(Formerly Injap Land Corporation)
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables - net
Inventories
Due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Receivables - net of current portion
Property and equipment - net
Goodwill and intangible assets
Investment property
Deferred tax assets
Other noncurrent assets
Total Noncurrent Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Short-term notes payable
Due to related parties
Customers' deposits
Dividends payable
Income tax payable
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term notes payable - net of debt issue costs
Bonds Payable - net of bond issue costs
Deferred tax liabilities
Retirement benefits liability
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Capital stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit liability - net of tax
Non-controlling Interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

Audited
December 31, 2017

Audited
December 31, 2016

Horizontal Analysis
Increase (Decrease)

Vertical Analysis
2017
2016

2,100,423,876
3,419,400,769
3,819,534,025
103,522,051
4,822,541,217
14,265,421,938

5,466,874,377
1,712,247,793
3,186,344,243
101,808,489
3,251,281,534
13,718,556,436

(3,366,450,501)
1,707,152,976
633,189,782
1,713,562
1,571,259,683
546,865,502

-61.6%
99.7%
19.9%
1.7%
48.3%
4.0%

3.3%
5.3%
5.9%
0.2%
7.5%
22.2%

10.9%
3.4%
6.4%
0.2%
6.5%
27.4%

230,721,735
1,009,930,629
1,313,752,483
46,423,547,456
263,343,007
822,599,878
50,063,895,188
64,329,317,126

643,323,007
863,417,757
1,255,001,324
32,535,137,136
15,519,784
1,022,535,822
36,334,934,830
50,053,491,266

(412,601,272)
146,512,872
58,751,159
13,888,410,320
247,823,223
(199,935,944)
13,728,960,358
14,275,825,860

-64.1%
17.0%
4.7%
42.7%
1596.8%
-19.6%
37.8%
28.5%

0.4%
1.6%
2.0%
72.2%
0.4%
1.3%
77.8%
100.0%

1.3%
1.7%
2.5%
65.0%
0.0%
2.0%
72.6%
100.0%

4,057,604,344
3,452,170,869
944,720,411
125,696,948
152,131,628
23,169,126
8,755,493,326

2,639,958,858
3,486,004,312
1,081,038,940
219,924,165
161,945,000
1,128,130
7,589,999,405

1,417,645,486
(33,833,443)
(136,318,529)
(94,227,217)
(9,813,372)
22,040,996
1,165,493,921

53.7%
-1.0%
-12.6%
-42.8%
-6.1%
1953.8%
15.4%

6.3%
5.4%
1.5%
0.2%
0.2%
0.0%
13.6%

5.3%
7.0%
2.2%
0.4%
0.3%
0.0%
15.2%

14,727,597,945
14,795,304,275
2,849,087,621
7,674,749
878,398,557
33,258,063,148
42,013,556,474

15,027,837,523
5,217,658,399
1,149,415,869
6,121,432
844,155,051
22,245,188,275
29,835,187,680

(300,239,578)
9,577,645,876
1,699,671,752
1,553,317
34,243,506
11,012,874,873
12,178,368,794

-2.0%
183.6%
147.9%
25.4%
4.1%
49.5%
40.8%

22.9%
23.0%
4.4%
0.0%
1.4%
51.7%
65.3%

30.0%
10.4%
2.3%
0.0%
1.7%
44.4%
59.6%

10,222,973,000
1,358,237,357
2,571,883,195
1,876,396
14,154,969,948
8,160,790,704
22,315,760,652
64,329,317,126

10,222,973,000
1,358,237,357
1,578,127,905
(2,602,254)
13,156,736,008
7,061,567,578
20,218,303,586
50,053,491,266

993,755,290
4,478,650
998,233,940
1,099,223,126
2,097,457,066
14,275,825,860

0.0%
0.0%
63.0%
-172.1%
7.6%
15.6%
10.4%
28.5%

15.9%
2.1%
4.0%
0.0%
22.0%
12.7%
34.7%
100.0%

20.4%
2.7%
3.2%
0.0%
26.3%
14.1%
40.4%
100.0%

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company’s consolidated cash and cash equivalents were ₱2.1 billion
(U.S.$42.1 million) as of December 31, 2017, a decrease of ₱3.4 billion, or 61.6%,
from consolidated cash and cash equivalents of ₱5.5 billion as of December 31, 2016,
due to the construction of additional CityMalls and vertical projects.
Receivables – net
The Company’s consolidated net receivables were ₱3.4 billion (U.S.$68.8 million) as
of December 31, 2017, a ₱1.7 billion, or 99.7% increase from consolidated net
receivables of ₱1.7 billion as of December 31, 2016, due to incremental sales from the
Company’s ongoing interim residential projects.
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Real estate inventories
The Company’s consolidated real estate inventories were ₱ 3.8 billion (U.S.$76.5
million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 633.2 million, or 19.9% increase from
consolidated real estate inventories of ₱ 3.2 billion as of December 31, 2016. This
increase was primarily driven by the completion of certain phases of DD Happy
Homes’ projects in 2017 and the groundbreaking of Hotel 101 Fort in 2017.
Due from related parties
The Company’s consolidated due from related parties were ₱ 103.5 million
(U.S.$2.1 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 1.7 million, or 1.7% increase from
₱ 101.8 million as of December 31, 2016.
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net
The Company’s consolidated prepaid expenses and other current assets (net), which
includes input taxes on expenditures related to construction and property development
and creditable withholding taxes, were ₱ 4.8 billion (U.S.$96.6 million) as of
December 31, 2017, a ₱ 1.6 billion, or 48.3% increase from consolidated prepaid
expenses and other current assets (net) of ₱ 3.3 billion as of December 31, 2016. The
increase was primarily driven by the increase in input VAT related to construction
services provided to and other construction-related costs incurred by the Company.
Receivables – net of current portion
The Company’s consolidated noncurrent receivables were ₱ 230.7 million
(U.S.$4.6 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 412.6 million, or 64.1% decrease
from consolidated noncurrent receivables of ₱ 643.4 million as of December 31, 2016,
due to the decrease in noncurrent installment contracts receivable, which are
collectible in two to three years’ time, arising from a decrease in sale of units from the
Company’s horizontal and vertical projects in 2017.
Property and equipment - net
The Company’s consolidated property and equipment (net) were ₱1.0 billion
(U.S.$20.2 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱146.5 million, or 17.0% increase
from consolidated property and equipment (net) of ₱863.4 million as of December 31,
2016. This increase is due to property and equipment additions during the year.
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Computer software licenses and goodwill - net
The Company’s consolidated computer software licenses and goodwill (net) were
₱ 1.3 billion (U.S.$26.3 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 58.8 million, or 4.7%
increase from consolidated computer software licenses and goodwill (net) of ₱ 1.3
billion as of December 31, 2016, due to amortizations made in 2017. This increase
was due to the additional cost incurred for Advertising Production Cost and Computer
Software Licenses.
Investment properties
The Company’s consolidated investment properties were ₱ 46.4 billion
(U.S.$928.0 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 13.8 billion, or 42.7% increase
from consolidated investment properties of ₱ 32.5 billion as of December 31, 2016,
due to the continuing acquisition by the Company of prime commercial property
across provincial cities in the Philippines for its CityMalls expansion (i.e., 15
CityMalls completed in 2017), and the construction of DD Meridian Park (including
the substantial completion of DoubleDragon Plaza in 2017) and Jollibee Tower.
Deferred tax assets
The Company’s consolidated deferred tax assets, which are comprised mainly were
₱ 263.3 million (U.S.$5.3 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 247.8 million, or
1,596% increase, from consolidated deferred tax assets of ₱ 15.5 million as of
December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the recognition of net operating loss
carried forward (NOLCO) of certain of the Company’s Subsidiaries.
Other noncurrent assets
The Company’s consolidated other noncurrent assets were ₱ 822.6 million
(U.S.$16.5 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 199.9 million, or 19.6% decrease
from consolidated other noncurrent assets of ₱ 1.0 billion as of December 31, 2016.
This decrease was due to the shifting of advances to contractors that are due in less
than a year to the Company’s current account.
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
The Company’s consolidated accounts payable and other current liabilities were
₱ 4.1 billion (U.S.$81.2 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 1.4 billion, or 53.7%
increase from consolidated accounts payable and other current liabilities of ₱ 2.6
billion as of December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the overall increase in
construction activities relating to the Company’s projects. Accounts payable consist
primarily of trade payables from services provided by contractors and subcontractors
for actual progress billings relating to existing and new developmental projects of the
Company.
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Short-term notes payable
The Company’s consolidated short-term notes payable were ₱3.5 billion
(U.S.$69.1 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱33.8 million, or 1.0% decrease from
consolidated short-term notes payable of ₱3.5 billion as of December 31, 2016.
Due to related parties
The Company’s consolidated due to related parties were ₱ 944.7 million (U.S.$18.9
million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 136.3 million, or 12.6% decrease from
consolidated due to related parties of ₱ 1.1 billion as of December 31, 2016. This
decrease was due to the settlement of the amounts due to certain related parties of the
Company in relation to the acquisition of Hotel of Asia, Inc. See Note 21 (Related
Party Transactions) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements..
Customer’s deposits
The Company’s consolidated deposits from customers were ₱ 125.7 million
(U.S.$2.5 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 94.2 million, or 42.8% decrease from
consolidated deposits from customers of ₱ 219.9 million as of December 31, 2016.
This decrease was due to the movement of deposits and downpayments relating to
units in The SkySuites Tower and W.H. Taft to sales.
Dividends payable
The Company’s dividends payable decreased to ₱ 152.1 million (U.S.$3.0 million) as
of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 9.8 million, or 6.1% decrease from ₱ 161.9 million as of
December 31, 2016.
Income tax payable
The Company’s income tax payable was ₱ 23.2 million (U.S.$0.5 million) as of
December 31, 2017, a ₱ 22.0 million, or 1,953.8% increase compared to ₱ 1.1 million
as of December 31, 2016 as a result of the higher net income realized by the Company
in 2017.
Long-term notes payable – net of debt issue costs
The Company’s consolidated long-term notes payable were ₱ 14.7 billion
(U.S.$295.0 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 300.2 million, or 2.0% decrease
from consolidated long-term notes payable of ₱ 15.0 billion as of December 31, 2016.
Bonds payable – net of bond issuance cost
The Company’s consolidated bonds payable were ₱ 14.8 billion (U.S.$296.3 million)
as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 9.6 billion, or 183.6% increase from consolidated bonds
payable of ₱ 5.2 billion as of December 31, 2016, as a result of the Company’s
issuance of ₱ 9.7 billion of bonds in July 2017.
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Deferred tax liability
The Company’s consolidated deferred tax liability was ₱ 2.8 billion
(U.S.$57.1 million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 1.7 billion, or 147.9% increase from
consolidated deferred tax liability of ₱ 1.1 billion as of December 31, 2016. This
increase was due to the recognition of ₱ 4.2 billion in unrealized gains from change in
fair values of investment property in 2017.
Retirement benefits liability
The Company’s retirement benefits liability was ₱ 7.7 million (U.S.$0.2 million) as of
December 31, 2017, a ₱ 1.6 million, or 25.4% increase from retirement benefits
liability of ₱ 6.1 million as of December 31, 2016.

Other noncurrent liabilities
The Company’s consolidated other noncurrent liabilities were ₱ 878.4 million
(U.S.$17.6million) as of December 31, 2017, a ₱ 34.2 million, or 4.1% increase from
consolidated other noncurrent liabilities of ₱ 844.2 million as of December 31, 2016.
This increase was due to the increase in security deposits received in relation to leases
in DD Meridian Park and the Company’s CityMalls.
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The following are the major financial ratios of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016
Current Ratio
Asset to Equity
Debt to Equity Ratios
On Gross Basis
On Net Basis
Return on Equity
Net Income to Revenue
Revenue Growth
Net Income Growth
EBITDA

12/31/2017
1.63
2.88

12/31/2016
1.81
2.48

1.48x
1.38x
12.06%
24.89%
78.14%
52.53%
Php 4,762,120,984

1.19x
0.92x
13.57%
29.07%
92.42%
92.90%
Php 2,268,413,185
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The formulas by which the Company calculates the foregoing performance indicators
are as follows:
1. Current Ratio

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

2. Asset to Equity Ratio

Total Assets
Total Stockholders' Equity

3. Debt to Equity Ratio (Gross Basis)

Total Interest Bearing Short-Term and Long-Term Debt
Total Equity

4. Debt to Equity Ratio (Net Basis)

Total Interest Bearing Short-Term and Long-Term Debt less Cash and Cash Equivalent
Total Equity

5. Return on Equity

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent
Average Equity Attributable to the Owners of the Parent

6. Net Income to Revenue

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent
Total Revenue

7. Revenue Growth

Total Revenue (Current Period)
Total Revenue (Prior Period)

8. Income Growth

9. EBITDA

-1

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent (Current Period)
Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent (Prior Period)

-1

Income from Operations + Depreciation and Amortization
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Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
RESULTS OF OPERATION
DOUBLEDRAGON PROPERTIES CORP.
(Formerly Injap Land Corporation)
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEM ENTS OF COM PREHENSIVE INCOM E
For the year ended December 31

2016
REVENUES
Real estate sales
Leasehold rights’ sales
Rent income
Hotel revenues
Unrealized gains from changes in fair values of investment property
Interest income
Income from forfeitures
Others
COST AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sales
Cost of hotel operations
Cost of leasehold rights
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Interest expense
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
NET INCOME/TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest

2015

Horizontal Analysis
Increase (Decrease)

Vertical Analysis
2016
2015

931,925,450
292,660,122
268,667,585
78,894,545
1,830,049,768
119,292,042
12,672,533
177,553,903
3,711,715,948

641,470,191
139,713,804
116,545,653
811,063,913
120,857,833
69,295,227
29,988,318
1,928,934,939

290,455,259
152,946,318
152,121,932
78,894,545
1,018,985,855
(1,565,791)
(56,622,694)
147,565,585
1,782,781,009

45.3%
109.5%
130.5%
100.0%
125.6%
-1.3%
-81.7%
492.1%
92.4%

25.1%
7.9%
7.2%
2.1%
49.3%
3.2%
0.3%
4.8%
100.0%

33.3%
7.2%
6.0%
0.0%
42.0%
6.3%
3.6%
1.6%
100.0%

495,763,585
61,006,174
21,913,753
172,663,800
725,452,401
330,238,308
1,807,038,021
1,904,677,927
434,369,406
1,470,308,521

370,604,075
8,364,736
113,030,897
428,602,219
114,353,234
1,034,955,161
893,979,778
271,197,041
622,782,737

125,159,510
61,006,174
13,549,017
59,632,903
296,850,182
215,885,074
772,082,860
1,010,698,149
163,172,365
847,525,784

33.8%
100.0%
162.0%
52.8%
69.3%
188.8%
74.6%
113.1%
60.2%
136.1%

13.4%
1.6%
0.6%
4.7%
19.5%
8.9%
48.7%
51.3%
11.7%
39.6%

19.2%
0.0%
0.4%
5.9%
22.2%
5.9%
53.7%
46.3%
14.1%
32.3%

1,079,113,320
391,195,201
1,470,308,521

559,405,589.00
63,377,148.00
622,782,737

519,707,731
327,818,053
847,525,784

92.9%
517.2%
136.1%

29.1%
10.5%
39.6%

29.0%
3.3%
32.3%

Revenues
Consolidated revenues grew by 92.4% to P3.7 billion from last year’s P1.9 billion.
Real estate sales of P931.9 million was fueled by sales from the Company’s interim
residential projects W.H. Taft Residences, SkySuites Tower and The Uptown Place as
well as from its affordable housing arm, DD Happy Homes which have projects in
Mandurriao, Iloilo and Tanauan, Leyte. Another P292.7 million was booked from the
Leasehold Rights’ Sales covering mall stall units located in Dragon8 Mall in Binondo,
the sales take-up of the mall stall units in 2016 was double the amount of the previous
year’s Leasehold Rights’ Sales of P139.7 million indicating strong demand.
Rental income more than doubled to P268.7 million in 2016 (+130.5%) from the
P116.5 million recognized in 2015 mainly contributed by the ten (10) CityMalls that
were already operational during the year 2016. Other commercial leasing revenue was
from developments of the Company such as Dragon8 Mall also contributed to its
recurring income stream.
The Company booked P78.9 million in Hotel revenues for a period of only three (3)
months since its acquisition on October 2016 of a majority stake in its new subsidiary,
Hotel of Asia, Inc. (“HOA”), which will serve as the Company’s hospitality arm.
HOA is a hospitality firm primarily engaged in the ownership, operation and
development of hotel projects, including the Hotel 101 at the Mall of Asia Complex.
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HOA also holds the master franchisee of JinJiang Inn which currently has two
operational hotels located in Makati and Ortigas respectively. The stake in HOA will
now allow DoubleDragon to benefit from the booming tourism prospects for the
Philippines in the years to come as well as fully optimize the use and value of its
string of prime properties in various strategic areas of the country.
Cost and Expenses
Cost of Real Estate Sales in 2016 amounted to P495.8 million, increased by P125.2
million from P370.6 million in 2015 although the margins improved substantially
with cost of sales lowering to 44.4% in 2016 from 48.5% in 2015.
Selling expenses amounted to P172.7 million, higher by P59.6 million (52.8%) from
P113.0 million last year due to the increase in advertising and marketing expense as
the Company promotes the CityMall brand nationwide. General and administrative
expenses amounted to P725.5 million, higher by P296.9 million (69.3%) from last
year’s P428.6 million due to increase in personnel cost, business taxes, professional
services acquired, depreciation and leases. The Company is in its high growth stage
and is building up the proper support and resources in preparation for the turnover of
its core projects under construction.
Interest expense for 2016 was P330.2 million, an increase of P215.9 million from last
year’s P114.4 million. This is mainly due to the interest payments on the Company’s
short- and long-term notes which were used to fund the Company’s expansion plans.
Portion of interest expense on bank loans is capitalized as borrowing costs.
Capitalized interest is the interest incurred on loans used directly to finance the
development and construction of the Company's projects during the development
stage until the date of completion as required by the accounting standards.
Net Income
The Company's consolidated net income for 2016 grew by P847.5 million (136.1%)
to P1.47 billion from P622.8 million posted in the previous year due to significant
increase in Real Estate Sales (+45.3%), increase in Leasehold Rights’ Sales
(+109.5%) and from the Company’s new revenue stream – Hotel revenues; coupled
with the improvement of the Consolidated Cost of Sales ratio at 44.4% from 48.5%
last year. Moreover, income from rental has increased by 130.5%, as the Company
continues its transition into the recurring revenue model.
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FINANCIAL POSITION
DOUBLEDRAGON PROPERTIES CORP.
(Formerly Injap Land Corporation)
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Audited
Audited
December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables - net
Inventories
Due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - net
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Receivables - net of current portion
Property and equipment - net
Goodwill and intangible assets
Investment property
Deferred tax assets
Other noncurrent assets
Total Noncurrent Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Short-term notes payable
Due to related parties
Current portion of customers' deposits
Dividends payable
Income tax payable
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term notes payable - net of debt issue costs
Bonds payable - net of bond issue costs
Deferred tax liabilities
Retirement benefits liability
Customers' deposits - net of current portion
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Capital stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit liability - net of tax
Non-controlling Interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

Horizontal Analysis
Increase (Decrease)

Vertical Analysis
2016
2015

5,466,874,377
1,712,247,793
3,186,344,243
101,808,489
3,251,281,534
13,718,556,436

960,459,833
719,103,845
2,640,403,512
58,567,380
1,282,725,181
5,661,259,751

4,506,414,544
993,143,948
545,940,731
43,241,109
1,968,556,353
8,057,296,685

469.2%
138.1%
20.7%
73.8%
153.5%
142.3%

11.0%
3.5%
6.4%
0.2%
6.6%
27.7%

3.5%
2.6%
9.5%
0.2%
4.6%
20.4%

643,323,007
1,459,841,829
170,035,031
32,535,137,136
15,519,784
1,001,210,584
35,825,067,371
49,543,623,807

458,709,355
145,751,214
94,347,435
19,929,916,375
418,809,603
1,054,534,129
22,102,068,111
27,763,327,862

184,613,652
1,314,090,615
75,687,596
12,605,220,761
(403,289,819)
(53,323,545)
13,722,999,260
21,780,295,945

40.2%
901.6%
80.2%
63.2%
-96.3%
-5.1%
62.1%
78.4%

1.3%
2.9%
0.3%
65.7%
0.0%
2.0%
72.3%
100.0%

1.7%
0.5%
0.3%
71.8%
1.5%
3.8%
79.6%
100.0%

2,639,958,858
3,486,004,312
1,081,038,940
219,924,165
161,945,000
1,128,130
7,589,999,405

1,603,262,410
4,274,000,000
553,660,373
57,805,095
699,571
6,489,427,449

1,036,696,448
(787,995,688)
527,378,567
162,119,070
161,945,000
428,559
1,100,571,956

64.7%
-18.4%
95.3%
280.5%
100.0%
61.3%
17.0%

5.3%
7.0%
2.2%
0.4%
0.3%
0.0%
15.3%

5.8%
15.4%
2.0%
0.2%
0.0%
0.0%
23.4%

15,027,837,523
5,217,658,399
898,715,869
6,121,432
844,155,052
21,994,488,275
29,584,487,680

11,114,499,192
785,147,211
4,983,866
111,346,839
613,446,150
12,629,423,258
19,118,850,707

3,913,338,331
5,217,658,399
113,568,658
1,137,566
(111,346,839)
230,708,902
9,365,065,017
10,465,636,973

35.2%
100.0%
14.5%
22.8%
-100.0%
37.6%
74.2%
54.7%

30.3%
10.5%
1.8%
0.0%
0.0%
1.7%
44.4%
59.7%

40.0%
0.0%
2.8%
0.0%
0.4%
2.2%
45.5%
68.9%

10,222,973,000
1,358,237,357
1,574,129,905
(2,602,254)
13,152,738,008
6,806,398,119
19,959,136,127
49,543,623,807

222,973,000
1,358,237,357
1,174,325,142
(2,602,254)
2,752,933,245
5,891,543,910
8,644,477,155
27,763,327,862

10,000,000,000
1
399,804,763
(1)
10,399,804,763
914,854,209
11,314,658,972
21,780,295,945

4484.8%
0.0%
34.0%
0.0%
377.8%
15.5%
130.9%
78.4%

20.6%
2.7%
3.2%
0.0%
26.5%
13.7%
40.3%
100.0%

0.8%
4.9%
4.2%
0.0%
9.9%
21.2%
31.1%
100.0%

On the Balance Sheet side, consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2016
amounted to P49.5 billion, an increase of 78.4% from 27.8 billion in the previous year
as the Company’s assets grew largely through the developments and construction of
its Projects. Consolidated total liabilities increased by 54.7% to P29.6 billion from
P19.1 billion in the previous year largely due to the availment of financing facilities
used by the Company to roll-out its planned expansion.
Current Assets
Total Current Assets amounted to P13.7 billion as of December 31, 2016, higher by
142.3% from P5.7 billion in the previous year largely due to the increase in Cash and
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Cash Equivalents by P4.5 billion (+469.2%) coming from the proceeds of the
Company’s Preferred Shares and Bonds issuances during the year.
Cash amounted to P5.5 billion as of December 31, 2016 increased by P4.5 billion
from P0.96 billion in December 31, 2015. Proceeds from the short- and long-term
borrowings as well as proceeds from the Preferred Shares and Bonds issuances during
the year were utilized in the full-swing construction of the CityMalls, Jollibee Tower,
The SkySuites Tower and the DoubleDragon Plaza at the DD Meridian Park and also
for general corporate requirements.
Current Receivables amounted to P1.7 billion as of December 31, 2016, an increase
of 138.1% from previously reported P719.1 million in December 31, 2015.
Real estate inventories amounted to P3.2 billion as of December 31, 2016, increased
by P545.9 million (20.7%) from P2.6 billion on December 31, 2015 due to additional
development Projects by the Company.
Prepaid expenses and other current assets amounting to P3.3 billion as of December
31, 2016 increased by P2.0 billion (153.5%) from P1.3 billion on December 31, 2015.
Noncurrent Assets
Noncurrent installment contracts receivable increased to P643.2 million from P458.7
million in the previous year, an increase of 40.2% due to the additional take up in
sales via installment plans. This represents the portion of receivables from the sale of
units from its horizontal and vertical projects collectible in two to three years' time.
Property and equipment amounted to P1.5 billion as of December 31, 2016 increased
by P1.3 billion (901.6%) from P145.8 million on December 31, 2015. Intangible
assets amounted to P170.0 million as of December 31, 2016 increased by P75.7
million from P94.3 million in the previous year. The purchase and implementation of
SAP enterprise software contributed to the net increase in intangible assets.
Investment Property significantly increased to P32.5 billion, an increase of P12.6
billion (63.2%) from P19.9 billion on December 31, 2015. This significant increase is
mainly attributable to the numerous land acquisitions intended for the CityMall
project as well the corresponding construction of these CityMalls along with the
Company’s other Projects.
Other noncurrent assets as of December 31, 2016 amounted to P1.0 billion decreased
by P53.3 million (-5.1%) on December 31, 2015.
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities amounted to P2.6 billion as of December 31,
2016 increased by P1.0 billion from P1.6 billion on December 31, 2015. The bulk of
such increase is attributable to Trade Payables arising from services provided by the
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contractors and subcontractors for actual progress billings related to existing and new
developmental projects.
Short-term notes payable amounted to P3.4 billion as of December 31, 2016,
decreased by P788.0 million from P4.3 billion on December 31, 2015. This is due to
the repayment of the current portion of the Company’s Notes Payable.
Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities amounted to P22.0 billion as of year-end 2016, as against
P12.6 billion in the previous year, an increase of P9.4 billion (74.2%). During 2016,
the Company obtained a total of P4.0 billion unsecured long-term loans from various
financial institutions. The Company also issued the first tranche of its ten (10) year
fixed rate retail bonds amounting to P5.3 billion. The proceeds from these borrowings
were used by the Company to partly finance its capital expenditures, primarily for the
development of The Meridian Park, The SkySuites Tower, Jollibee Tower, land
acquisition and construction of CityMalls and for general corporate purposes.
Equity Attributable to Holders of the Parent Company
Retained earnings attributable to the holders of the Parent Company increased by
P399.7 million (34.0%) from P1.2 billion on December 31, 2015 to P1.6 billion as of
December 31, 2016. The increase is due to the cumulative earnings recognized by the
Company.
Equity of Non-controlling Interest
Non-controlling interest (NCI) increased by P914.8 million (15.5%) to P6.8 billion
from P5.9 billion on December 31, 2015. The increase is mainly coming from the
Company’s new subsidiary, Hotel of Asia, Inc., additional CityMall subsidiaries and
DD Meridian Park Development Corp’s developments.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The following are the major financial ratios of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015
Current Ratio
Asset to Equity
Debt to Equity Ratios
On Gross Basis
On Net Basis
Return on Equity
Net Income to Revenue
Revenue Growth
Net Income Growth
EBITDA

12/31/2016
1.81
2.48

12/31/2015
0.87
3.21

1.19x
0.92x
13.57%
29.07%
92.42%
92.90%
Php 2,268,413,185

1.78x
1.67x
22.4%
29.0%
12.8%
0.63%
Php 1,142,957,552

The formulas by which the Company calculates the foregoing performance indicators
are as follows:
1. Current Ratio

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

2. Asset to Equity Ratio

Total Assets
Total Stockholders' Equity

3. Debt to Equity Ratio (Gross Basis)

Total Interest Bearing Short-Term and Long-Term Debt
Total Equity

4. Debt to Equity Ratio (Net Basis)

Total Interest Bearing Short-Term and Long-Term Debt less Cash and Cash Equivalent
Total Equity

5. Return on Equity

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent
Average Equity Attributable to the Owners of the Parent

6. Net Income to Revenue

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent
Total Revenue

7. Revenue Growth

Total Revenue (Current Period)
Total Revenue (Prior Period)

8. Income Growth

9. EBITDA

-1

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent (Current Period)
Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent (Prior Period)

-1

Income from Operations + Depreciation and Amortization
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ITEM 7. Financial Statements
Please see the attached consolidated financial statements and schedules listed in the
accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules.

ITEM 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants and
Financial Disclosure
There were no changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and
financial disclosure.
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PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION
ITEM 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
The overall management and supervision of the Company is undertaken by the
Company’s Board of Directors. The Company’s executive officers and management
team cooperate with its Board by preparing appropriate information and documents
concerning the Company’s business operations, financial condition and results of
operations for its review. Pursuant to the Company’s current articles of incorporation
as amended on April 14, 2016, the Board consists of eight members. As of the date of
this report, two members of the Board are independent directors. All of the directors
were re-elected at the Company’s annual shareholders meeting on August 30, 2017
and will hold office for a period of one (1) year from their election and until their
successors have been duly elected and qualified.
The table below sets forth each member of the Company’s Board:
Name

Age

Nationality

Edgar J. Sia II........................
Tony Tan Caktiong ...............
Ferdinand J. Sia.....................
Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia...........

41
65
39
28

Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

William Tan Untiong ............
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Filipino

Joseph Tanbuntiong ..............
Gary P. Cheng .......................
Vicente S. Perez, Jr. ..............

54
53
59

Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

Position

Chairman of the Board and
CEO
Co-Chairman of the Board
Director and President
Director, Treasurer and CFO
Director and Corporate
Secretary
Director and Assistant
Corporate Secretary
Independent Director
Independent Director

Messrs. Artemio V. Panganiban and Ernesto Tanmantiong serve as advisors to the Board.

The business experience of each of the directors and advisors is set forth below.
Edgar J. Sia II is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Injap Investments
Inc. Mr Sia is also the Founder of Mang Inasal Philippines, Inc. and various other
companies. He obtained his Doctorate Degree from the University of San Agustin
Honoris Causa Major in Management in 2012.
Tony Tan Caktiong is the Chairman of Honeystar Holdings Corporation and the
Founder and current Chairman of Jollibee Foods Corp. since 1978. Mr. Tan Caktiong
is also a Director of First Gen Corporation since 2005 and A Member of the Board of
Trustees of Jollibee Group Foundation, Temasek Foundation, and St. Luke’s Medical
Center. He graduated from the University of Santo Tomas in 1975 with a degree in
Chemical Engineering.
Ferdinand J. Sia is the President and Chief Operating Office of Injap Investments
Inc. He also serves as a Director of Mang Inasal Philippines, Inc. from 2006-2016.
He graduated from the University of the Philippines Visayas with a degree in
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Bachelor of Arts in Political Science and took up law in Arellano University College
of Law.
Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia is the Treasurer and Chief Finance Officer of Injap
Investments Inc. She serves as the Treasurer of People’s Hotel Corp. and as a Director
of Hotel of Asia since 2008. She graduated from the University of the Philippines
Visayas with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Accountancy and is a Certified
Public Accountant.
William Tan Untiong has been a Director of Jollibee Foods Corp. since 1993 and
likewise serves as a director and treasurer of Honeystar Holdings Corporation. He is
the Vice President for Real Estate of Jollibee Foods Corp since 1989. He was
appointed as Chief Real Estate Office in 2015.
Joseph Tanbuntiong is the President of Jollibee Philippines starting July 1, 2013. He
is the former President of Red Ribbon Philippines, having served there since 2008. He
graduated from Ateneo de Manila University with a degree in Management
Engineering.
Gary P. Cheng is an investment banking professional with over 20 years of corporate
finance and capital markets experience. He is currently the Managing Director and cofounder of Fortman Cline Capital Markets Limited since 2007. Dr. Cheng served as
the former President/CEO of Amalgamated Investment Bancorporation from 2003
and 2008 and former Vice President of Investment Banking at J.P. Morgan from 1993
to 2001. Dr. Cheng obtained his doctorate in Philosophy from the University of
Leeds, England in 1991.
Vicente S. Perez, Jr. served as the Secretary of the Department of Energy from 2001
to 2005 and Managing Director of the Board of Investments in 2001. He is also the
current Chairman of WWF Philippines and a member of WWF - International. Mr.
Perez has a Masters in Business Administration - International Finance from the
Wharton School University of Pennsylvania and a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Economics from the University of the Philippines.
Chief Justice Artemio V. Panganiban is a retired Chief Justice of the Republic of
the Philippines. He sits as independent director of several listed companies including
Meralco, Petron Corporation, First Philippine Holdings Corp., Philippine Long
Distance Telephone Company (PLDT); Metro Pacific Investment Corp., and GMA
Network, Inc. among others.
Ernesto Tanmantiong serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of Jollibee
Foods Corp. He is also a Director of Grandworth Resources Corporation, Red Ribbon
Bakeshop Inc., Fresh N’ Famous Foods, Inc. - Chowking, Honeystar Holdings Corp.,
and various other companies.
Independent Directors
The Manual requires the Company to have at least two independent directors in the
Board of Directors, at least one of whom serves on each of the Corporate Governance,
Nomination Committee, and the Audit Committee. An independent director is
68

defined as a person who has not been an officer or employee of the Company, its
Subsidiaries or affiliates or related interests during the past three years counted from
date of his election, or any other individual having a relationship with the institution,
its parent, subsidiaries or related interest, or to any of the Company’s director, officer
or stockholder holding shares of stock sufficient to elect one seat in the board of
directors or any of its related companies within the fourth degree of consanguinity or
affinity, legitimate or common-law, which would interfere with the exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board created and appointed Board members to each of the committees set forth
below. Each member of the respective committees named below holds office as of
the date of this report and will serve until his successor is elected and qualified.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is composed of at least three members of the Board who have
accounting and finance backgrounds, at least one of whom is an independent director
and another with audit experience. The chair of the Audit Committee should be an
independent director.
The Audit Committee has the following functions:
a) Assist the Board in the performance of its oversight responsibility for the
financial reporting process, system of internal control, audit process and
monitoring of compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations;
b) Provide oversight over the management’s activities in managing credit,
market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the Company. This
function shall include receiving from management of information on risk
exposures and risk management activities;
c) Perform oversight functions over the Company’s internal and external
auditors. It should ensure that the internal and external auditors act
independently from each other, and that both auditors are given unrestricted
access to all records, properties and personnel to enable them to perform their
respective audit functions;
d) Review the annual internal audit plan to ensure its conformity with the
objectives of the Company. The plan shall include the audit scope, resources
and budget, necessary to implement it;
e) Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss with the external auditor the
nature, scope and expenses of the audit, and ensure proper coordination if
more than one audit firm is involved in the activity to secure proper coverage
and minimized duplication of efforts;
f) Organize an internal audit department, and consider the appointment of an
independent internal auditor and the terms and conditions of it engagement
and removal;
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g) Monitor and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control system, including financial reporting control and information
technology security;
h) Review the reports submitted by the internal and external auditors;
i) Review the quarterly, half-year and annual financial statements before their
submission to the Board, with particular focus on the following matters:
(i)

Any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii)

Major judgmental areas;

(iii)

Significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)

Going concern assumptions;

(v)

Compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi)

Compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements.

j) Coordinate, monitor and facilitate compliance with laws, rules and
regulations;
k) Evaluate and determine the non-audit work, if any, of the external auditor, and
review periodically the non-audit fees paid to the external auditor in relation to
their significance to the total annual income of the external auditor and to the
Company’s overall consultancy expenses. The Audit Committee shall
disallow any non-audit work that will conflict with his duties as an external
auditor or may pose a threat to his independence. The non-audit work, if
allowed, should be disclosed in the Company’s annual report;
l) Establish and identify the reporting line of the internal auditor to enable him to
properly fulfill his duties and responsibilities. He shall functionally report
directly to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall ensure that, in
the performance of the work of the internal auditor, he shall be free from
interference by outside parties.
As of the date of this report, the Audit and Risk Management Committee is chaired by
Mr. Gary P. Cheng, while Mr. Ferdinand J. Sia and Ms. Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia serve
as its members.
Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is composed of at least three members of the Board, one
of whom is an independent director. The Nomination Committee reviews and
evaluates the qualifications of all persons nominated to the Board and other
appointments that require Board approval.
As of the date of this report, the Nomination Committee is chaired by Chief Justice
Artemio V. Panganiban, while Ms. Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia and Mr. William Tan
Untiong serve as its members.
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Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee is composed of at least three members of the Board,
one of whom is an independent director. The Compensation Committee may
establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on remuneration
of directors and officers to ensure that their compensation is consistent with the
Company’s culture, strategy and the business strategy in which it operates.
As of the date of this report, the Compensation Committee is chaired by Mr. Vicente
S. Perez Jr., while Mr. Ferdinand J. Sia and Ms. Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia serve as
members.
Family Relationships
As of the date of this report, family relationships (by consanguinity or affinity within
the fourth civil degree) between Directors and members of the Company’s senior
management are as follows:
Edgar J. Sia II, Chairman of the Board and CEO, Ferdinand J. Sia, Director and
President, and Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia, Director, Treasurer and CFO are siblings. Tony
Tan Caktiong, Co-Chairman of the Board, William Tan Untiong, Director and
Corporate Secretary, Joseph Tanbuntiong, Director and Asst. Corporate Secretary and
Ernesto Tanmantiong Advisor to the Board are siblings.
Other than as disclosed above, there are no other family relationships between
Directors and members of the Company’s senior management known to the
Company.
Significant Employees
The Company believes that it is not dependent on any single employee. The Company
considers the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to its success
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
There are no known related party transactions other than those described in Note 21
(Related Party Transactions) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 10. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers
Injap Investments Inc., through an Executive Management Services Agreement,
provides executive, corporate, strategic, administrative and financial oversight
services related to the real estate business of the Company. Total fees paid under such
agreement amounted to ₱3,000,000.00 for each of the years ended December 31,
2015, 2016 and 2017 which covers the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, the President and the Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
For each of the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017 the total salaries and
allowances and bonuses paid to all other officers as a group unnamed are as follows:
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SUMMARY ANNUAL COMPENSATION TABLE
Name and Principal Position

Period

Salary

Bonus

Chief Investment Officer and Department Heads:
(Accounting, Business Development, Corporate Services, Design,
Engineering, Information Technology, Internal Audit, Leasing, Legal,
Marketing, Treasury & Corporate Planning, Procurement)

2017

₱37,057,819(1)

-

2016

₱30,390,058

-

2015

₱28,470,665

-

Note:
(1) Salaries for 2017 include compensation due to the officers under the Company’s target incentive plan for 2017

On November 11, 2015, the Board of Directors approved the creation of the Senior
Management Stock Option Plan. The Plan covers the Senior Management of the
Company as identified by the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The plan allows
all covered Senior Management to acquire at market price at grant date such number
of shares of stock not exceeding 2% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the
Company, after a vesting period of three years. Vesting is conditional on the
employment of the participant in the Company. The option will vest at the rate of
20% of the shares granted on the first year, 30% of the shares granted on the second
year, and 50% of the shares granted on the third year. The option is exercisable within
seven years from grant date.
The approval of the Stock Option Plan was ratified by the Company’s shareholders on
January 5, 2016 and submitted to the Philippine SEC for approval on November 4,
2016. The proposed issuance of 9,850,000 Common Shares pursuant to the Stock
Option Plan was approved by the Philippine SEC on September 25, 2017. As of the
date of this report, none of the elegible employees have exercised their respective
options under the Stock Option Plan.
On December 8, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to expand the
coverage of the plan to include rank and file regular employees of DoubleDragon
Properties Corp.
Compensation of Directors
Independent directors receive a standard per diem for attendance in Board meetings.
For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company paid a total of
₱810,000.00, ₱480,000.00, and ₱720,000.00, respectively. Except as stated above, the
Directors did not receive other allowances or per diems for the past and ensuing year.
There are no other existing arrangements/agreements under which directors are to be
compensated during the last completed fiscal year and the ensuing year.
The chart below sets forth the compensation received by the Directors of the
Company for the past three fiscal years:
Remuneration Item

Executive Directors

Non-Executive
Directors (other than
independent
directors)

Independent
Directors

(a)

Fixed Remuneration

As directors, they do not receive
compensation for services rendered. They
receive compensation as officers of the
corporation if they hold position as such.

None

None

(b)

Variable
Remuneration

None

None

None
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(c)

Per diem Allowance

None

None

Php2,010,000.00

(d)

Bonuses

None

None

None

(e)

Stock Options and/or
other
financial
instruments

None

None

None

None

None

None

_

_

Php2,010,000.00

(f)

Others (Specify)

Total

ITEM 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management
Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of more than 5% of the
Company’s voting securities as of December 31, 2017
Name of Beneficial Owner
and Relationship with
Record Owner

Citizenship

No. of Common
Shares Held

% of Total
Outstanding Shares

The record owner is
the beneficial owner of
the shares indicated

Filipino

824,996,999

37.00

Injap Investments Inc.
The record owner is
corner Fuentes and Delgado Streets, Iloilo City the beneficial owner of
the shares indicated

Filipino

824,996,999

37.00

PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino)
Tower I, The Enterprise Center,
6766 Ayala Ave. corner Paseo de Roxas,
Makati City

The record owner is
the beneficial owner of
the shares indicated

Filipino

287,939,010

12.91

PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino)
Tower I, The Enterprise Center,
6766 Ayala Ave. corner Paseo de Roxas,
Makati City

The record owner is
the beneficial owner of
the shares indicated

Foreign

286,678,540

12.86

Name and Address of Record Owners

Honeystar Holdings Corp.
10F Jollibee Plaza 10 F. Ortigas Jr. Ave.
Ortigas Center, Pasig City

As of December 31, 2017, foreign shareholders owned 12.96%, of the Common Shares, and 0.64% of
the Preferred Shares of the Company.
Security Ownership of Directors and Officers as of the date of this report.
The following table sets forth security ownership of the Company’s Directors, and Officers, as of December 31, 2017:
Name of Beneficial Owner
Edgar J. Sia II
Tony Tan Caktiong
Ferdinand J. Sia

Rizza Marie Joy J. Sia
William Tan Untiong
Joseph Tanbuntiong

Title of Class
Common
Common
Preferred
Common
Common
Preferred
Common
Common
Preferred
Common
Common
Preferred
Common
Common
Preferred
Common
Common
Preferred

Number of shares
514,790
453,750,055
1,000
32
1,000
247,500,030
1,000
123,749,115
3,501,000
32
50,000
4,001,000
103,125,013
-

Nature of ownership
(D)
(I)
(D)
(I)
(D)
(I)
(D)
(I)
(D)
(I)
(D)
(D)
(I)

Citizenship
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

%
0.02309%
20.35000%
0.00004%
0.00000%
0.00004%
11.10000%
0.00004%
5.54956%
0.15701%
0.00000%
0.05000%
0.17944%
4.62500%
-

73

Name of Beneficial Owner
Gary P. Cheng
Vicente S. Perez, Jr.
TOTAL

Title of Class
Common
Preferred
Common
Preferred
Common

Number of shares
250,001
250,001
8,519,792

Common

928,115,277

Preferred

50,000

Nature of ownership
(D)

(D)

%
0.01121%
0.01121%
0.37789%

(I)

41.62456%

(D)

0.05000%

(D)

Citizenship
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

_________________________________
Notes:
(D) refers to direct ownership and (I) refers to indirect ownership.

Except as disclosed above, there is no director or key officer of the Company that owns at least 10% of
its issued and outstanding shares of common or preferred stock.

Voting Trust Holders of five percent or More
Ther e ar e no per sons holding mor e than 5% of a class under a voting tr ust or
any similar agr eements as of balance sheet date.
Change in Control
The Company is not aware of any change in control or arrangement that may result in
a change in control of the Company since the beginning of its last fiscal year.

ITEM 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
The Company and its Subsidiaries, in their ordinary course of business, engage in
transactions with related parties and affiliates. These transactions include advances
and reimbursement of expenses. Except where indicated in the table below,
settlement of outstanding balances of advances at year end occurs in cash. As of
December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017, the Company has not made any provision for
impairment losses relating to amounts owed by related parties.
The summary of the Company’s transactions with its related parties for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and 2017and the related outstanding balances as of December 31,
2016 and 2017 are as follows:
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Outstanding Balances
As of
Decembe
r 31,

Category
Parent Company’s Key
Management
Personnel
Management fees

Stockholders
Rent expense

Cash advances received

Acquisition of HOA

Rent income

Due to
Related Parties

Terms and Conditions

a

2,678,571

₱ -

₱ -

2016

a

2,678,571

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2017

c

3,397,207

-

-

[Demandable; non-interest bearing;
unsecured; payable in cash]

2016

c

3,672,896

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2016

Other Related Parties
Land acquired

Due from
Related
Parties

2017

2017

Acquisition of HOA

Ref/NoteAmount of Transaction

d
d

429,944,449

[Demandable; non-interest bearing;
unsecured; payable in cash]

-

429,944,449

[Payable by way of DD shares]

-

429,944,449

Payable by way of DD shares

2017

e

-

-

383,281,305

[Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash]

2017
2016

e
e

-

-

383,281,305

[Payable by way of condo units]
Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
payable in cash

2016
2017

e
f

103,522,051

122,400,000
9,094,657

Payable by way of condo units
[Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment]

2016

f

-

101,808,489

10,170,186

2017

g

-

2016

g

2017

2016

122,400,000
1,713,562

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

-

-

356,643,000

-

135,243,000

h

189,941,376

-

-

[Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment]

h

89,487,076

-

-

Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

2017

₱103,522,051

₱944,720,411

2016

₱101,808,489

₱1,081,038,940

[Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment]
Demandable; non-interest bearing; unsecured;
collectible in cash; no impairment

a. Executive Management Services Agreement
The Company entered into an agreement with a shareholder for executive
corporate, strategic, administrative and financial oversight services relative
to the real estate business of the Company. The term of this agreement is
one year effective January 1, 2012. This is renewable under the same
terms and conditions upon mutual agreement of the parties. On December
8, 2016, the Company’s Board authorized the extension of the aforesaid
agreement from January 1 to December 31, 2017 under the same terms and
conditions set out in 2016, payable on a quarterly basis. The fee, which
includes staffing costs for services rendered by the shareholders, amounted
to ₱2.68 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
b. Lease of Showrooms and Sales Office
The Company leases showrooms and sales office from Injap Investments
Inc. (“III”) and Jollibee Foods Corporation (“JFC”), respectively. The
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terms of the lease are three to five years, renewable for the same period
under the same terms and conditions. The rent shall escalate by 7% to 10%
each year. The sales office rental contract with JFC ended as of September
30, 2017.
c. Acquisition of Hotel of Asia, Inc.
DoubleDragon Properties Corp. entered into a Share Purchase Agreement
(“SPA”) with III with the consideration amounting to the fair value of its
shares to be issued to III, as consideration transferred in exchange for III’s
40% share in Hotel of Asia, Inc. (“HOA”). As at December 31, 2017, the
share swap application is pending approval with the Philippine SEC. The
shares are expected to be issued within the first quarter of 2018.
d. Land Acquisitions
The Company has outstanding liabilities to minority shareholders of Prime
DDG Commercial Centers Inc. amounting to ₱383.28 million for the
acquisition of certain parcels of land which will be used for the
Company’s CityMalls. The stated unsecured, non-interest bearing
liabilities are to be settled by the Company in 2018.
In 2016, HOA entered into a Memorandum of Agreement and Deed of
Absolute Conveyance with a minority shareholder wherein HOA, in
consideration of the land owned by the minority shareholder, offered to
pay the latter in kind by way of condominium hotel (condotel) units in the
Hotel 101 - The Fort project (32-storey) totaling 60 condotel units plus a
portion of the deck referred to as the “Deck Unit”.
e. Cash Advances
The amount pertains to unsecured, non-interest bearing advances granted
to and received from related parties for working capital requirements.
These advances are generally settled within one year from the date of
grant.
f. Acquisition of Hotel of Asia, Inc.
Payable to affiliates pertains to the amount to be paid by DoubleDragon
Properties Corp. as part of the consideration for the purchase of shares of
Chan C. Bros. Holdings, Inc. and Staniel Realty and Development Corp. in
HOA. The amount was settled in 2017.
g. Lease of Mall Spaces
The Company entered into various lease agreements with related parties
covering its investment property portfolio. The amount pertains to the rent
income earned by the Company from leasing out some of its commercial
spaces in Dragon8 Mall and its CityMalls to JFC and the SM Group.
These leases generally provide for either a fixed monthly rent subject to
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escalation rates or a certain percentage of gross sales. The terms of the
leases are for periods ranging from five to 15 years. The fixed monthly
rent shall escalate by an average of 5% to 10% each year. The
corresponding receivables from related party tenants are recorded in the
“Rent receivables” account.
h. Key Management Personnel Compensation
The short-term benefits of other key management personnel amounted to
₱20.1 million and ₱20.3 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
Except when indicated above, all outstanding due to/from related parties
are to be settled in cash.
For more information, see Note 21 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ITEM 13. Corporate Governance
The Company submitted its Manual on Corporate Governance (the “Manual”) to the
Philippine SEC on May 31, 2017 in compliance with Philippine SEC Memorandum
Circular No. 6, series of 2009. The Company and its respective directors, officers and
employees have complied with the best practices and principles on good corporate
governance as embodied in its Corporate Governance Manual. An evaluation system
has been established by the Company to measure or determine the level of compliance
of the Board of Directors and top level management with its Manual of Corporate
Governance.
Please refer to the attached latest ACGR.

PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES
ITEM 14. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C
(a) Exhibits - See accompanying Index to Exhibits (page 79).
The following exhibit is filed as a separate section of this report:
(18) Subsidiaries of the Registrant
The other exhibits, as indicated in the Index to Exhibits are either not applicable to
the Company or require no answer.
(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C
Reports on SEC Form 17-C (Current Report) have been filed during the last six
months period covered by this report.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Form 17-A
No.

Page No.

(3) Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement,
Liquidation, or Succession

*

(5) Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders,
Including Indentures

*

(8) Voting Trust Agreement

*

(9) Material Contracts

*

(10) Annual Report to Security Holders, Form 11-Q or
Quarterly Report to Security Holders

*

(13) Letter re Change in Certifying Accountant

*

(16) Report Furnished to Security Holders

*

(18) Subsidiaries of the Registrant
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(19) Published Report Regarding Matters Submitted to Vote
of Security Holders

*

(20) Consent of Experts and Independent Counsel

*

(21) Power of Attorney

*

(29) Additional Exhibits
_______
* These Exhibits are either not applicable to the Company or require no answer.

*
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EXHIBIT 18 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
Please refer to Item 1 under “Business” and Note 2 of the accompanying Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for details.
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DOUBLEDRAGON PROPERTIES CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly Injap Land Corporation)
INDEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES
FORM 17-A, ITEM 7

Consolidated Financial Statements
Statement of Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
Independent Auditors’ Report
Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Supplementary Schedules
Independent Auditors’ Report on Supplementary Schedules
SRC Annex 68-E Schedules
A. Financial Assets
B. Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related
Parties and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related parties) *
C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are eliminated during
the Consolidation of Financial Statements
D. Intangible Assets - Other Assets
E. Long-term Debt
F. Indebtedness to Related Parties *
G. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers *
H. Capital Stock
Computation of Public Ownership
Financial Ratios - Key Performance Indicators
Reconciliation of Retained Earnings for Dividend Declaration
Conglomerate Map
Tabular Schedule of Effective Standards and Interpretations under the PFRS
*These schedules, which are required by SRC Rule 68.1, As Amended (2011), have
been omitted because they are either not applicable or the information required to be
presented is included in the Company's consolidated financial statements or the notes
to consolidated financial statements.
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